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About Cyberport

Cyberport is an innovative digital community with over 1,000 start-
ups and technology companies over the years. It is managed by
Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited, which is
wholly owned by the Hong Kong SAR Government. With the vision
to be the hub for digital technology which serves as a key economic
driver of Hong Kong, Cyberport is committed to talent cultivation by
nurturing youth, start-ups and entrepreneurs; industry development
by promoting collaboration with local and international partners; and
integration of new and traditional economies by accelerating digital
adoption among corporates and SMEs.

Cyberport is focused on building three application clusters, including
FinTech, Smart Living and e-Sports/Digital Entertainment, and two
technology clusters namely Al/Big Data and Blockchain solutions,
to foster the development of Hong Kong into a “Smart City". With a
committed team of professionals providing all rounded value added
services to support our digital community and an array of state-of-
the-art technology facilities, Cyberport seeks to become the flagship
for Hong Kong's digital technology industry.
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Cyberport aspires to be the hub for
digital technology, creating a key
economic driver for Hong Kong.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEREE

| am honoured to present the Annual Report of Cyberport for the
Financial Year ended 31 March 2018 (2017/18) and to share with you
the tremendous breakthroughs our organisation has made over the
past financial year.

Strong Growth and Impact

2017/18 was a record year for Cyberport on all fronts. Our start-
up ecosystem flourished and further diversified. The number of
technology companies and start-ups in the Cyberport community
surpassed 1,000. This led to more success stories such as GoGoVan
becoming Cyberport’s first unicorn and Klook having completed close
to US$60 million Series C funding
co-invested by renowned investors
including Sequoia China and
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Goldman Sachs. Our FinTech cluster These impressive results are attributable

of over 250 companies covering
the full range of capabilities from
Blockchain to Cybersecurity to Al
and Big Data has kept expanding and
has become a leading FinTech hub in
Asia.

to the ingenuity of our digital technology
entrepreneurs, the support of investors,
partners, and other stakeholders, and
particularty, to the government’s favourable
policies and budgetary support.
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Meanwhile, our cross-boundary and  ggigERR » FATIFERPURIE BIRALS © 5N BB R

international outreach efforts also

gained great momentum, and we

established new partnerships and

relations not only locally but also in

the Mainland and overseas that benefitted Hong Kong's technology
companies and start-ups and the ICT sector in unprecedented ways
and magnitude. Cyberport's deal flow also reached a record high
in both quantity and quality. Bolstered by digital technology start-
ups and innovations, Hong Kong's transformation into a smart city
progressed in leaps and bounds.

These impressive results are attributable to the ingenuity of our
digital technology entrepreneurs, the support of investors, partners
and other stakeholders, and particularly, to the government's
favourable policies and budgetary support, which catalysed the city's
innovation and technology development and inspired the community
to reach new heights.
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The policy initiatives for innovation and technology announced
in the 2017 Policy Address and the HK$300 million earmarked in
the 2018-19 Budget for Cyberport have given us new resources,
strong impetus to further drive digital technology development,
and helped springboard more start-ups to success. The Central
Government's steadfast support for Hong Kong's digital economy
aspirations by giving it a unique role to play in the Greater Bay Area
has also opened our technology companies and start-ups to new,
indispensable markets and opportunities that we can benefit from for
decades to come.

The positive outlook has been on the horizon for a while, considering
we began 2017/18 on a strong footing. The direction of the 3rd
Three-Year Strategic Plan that the Board endorsed towards the end
of the last financial year began to bear fruit as we entered the year.
Crucially, Cyberport has strengthened its position as a key incubator,
promoter, facilitator, advocate and investor in digital technology and
ICT development.

Complete and Vibrant Ecosystem and Extensive
International Network

Our unique brand position as Hong Kong's digital technology
flagship and a nurturing platform that connects start-ups and digital
technology entrepreneurs with investors, academic and industry
partners, mentors and the market is getting stronger and stronger.
Our attributes of being visionary, energetic, progressive, resourceful
and dynamic are well recognised by the community, as indicated in
the annual market image audit. This has attracted digital technology
entrepreneurs and companies from near and far to leverage
Cyberport's support, networks and resources to realise their
entrepreneurial dreams, venture beyond geographical boundaries,
generate synergies through partnerships, and create new business
possibilities.

Cyberport's complete and vibrant ecosystem now comprises more
than 1,000 strategic anchors and members - from established digital
technology giants such as Microsoft, IBM and Lenovo to fledging
start-ups and aspiring young technopreneurs from around the world.
We also built close partnership with Bank of China, HKU SHIELD, the
Hong Kong Monetary Authority, and prominent industry leaders such
as Accenture, Finastra and McKinsey & Co.

2017/18 also saw Cyberport significantly boosting its cross-
boundary outreach and collaboration efforts and strengthening its
networks of mentors, enterprise partners, universities and investors
in the Mainland and across the world. We want to ensure that our
technology companies and start-ups have access to all the essential
success factors - knowledge, business opportunities, training and
mentoring, capital, marketing support and a global network of
partners - to grow and thrive.
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For this reason, we expanded our partnerships with universities,
such as the University of Hong Kong (HKU), Stanford University
and the University of Waterloo in Canada, to offer aspiring young
talent more channels to learn and pursue their entrepreneurial
dreams - be it in FinTech, e-Sports or Digital Entertainment - and to
cultivate digital technology talent for the industry. We strengthened
collaboration with a wide range of industry associations to better
engage, galvanise, and bridge the broader community for digital
transformation. We worked with technology and business leaders
to organise knowledge sharing symposia, seminars, hackathons,
and high-impact industry events such as the Internet Economy
Summit, Cyberport Venture Capital Forum and Digital Entrepreneur
Leadership Forum to promote the latest trends and best practices in
digital transformation of industries. We also led missions to Silicon
Valley, London, Israel, Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen and other cities
in the Mainland, in addition to travelling to other innovation hubs
around the world to build partnerships, create new investment
opportunities and seize networking and exchange opportunities.
To further extend our global reach, we partnered with the United
Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
(UNESCAP) to host the Asia Pacific Business Forum in Hong Kong
which was attended by representatives from over 30 countries.

Our extensive network of local and international partners and
strategic relationships with the Mainland and overseas have opened
up new avenues for our technology companies and start-ups to
scale and become global brands. For example, TNG, one of Hong
Kong's foremost FinTech companies, and the Institute of Financial
Technologists of Asia, a FinTech certification association, launched
ground-breaking partnerships with their counterparts in the UK, and
this was the result of Cyberport leading the largest delegation of
FinTech industry stakeholders to London in late 2017 under the theme
“Think Asia, Think Hong Kong"/“Think FinTech, Think Cyberport”.
Cyberport also entered into a partnership with the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority and the Office of Financial Services Development
in Shenzhen to foster cross-boundary FinTech cooperation.

Incubator and Investor

Our incubation programmes and investment initiatives have
continued to nurture and empower start-ups. These wonderful
entrepreneurial teams include the likes of ORII, Heycoins, Yeechoo
and TravelFlan, who are rapidly establishing themselves at home and
venturing into Asia Pacific and beyond. Additionally, the innovations
by start-ups in the Cyberport community have created new products
and services for smart finance, smart living, and smart business,
which inspire, inform, and propel Hong Kong's smart city and digital
economy development.
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On the investment front, Cyberport made phenomenal progress
during the past year. We launched the Cyberport Investors Network
(CIN) that now comprises a membership of more than 80 leading
private equity and venture capital funds, corporate investors, family
offices and angel investors, and the number is expected to reach 100
in 2018.

FR - BISEBEIRESETESREEER -
HMIIL T TSNS BREE A48 (CIN) > IR
518018 $B e T 1B B FA E AR & 2 (private
equity funds)fz Al #& & £(venture capital
funds) ~ & %2 ¥ & FH(corporate venture
investors) ~ K& A ZE (family offices) Kz X
fF3&EE (angel investors)A > NE# BT
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In addition to presenting new investment
opportunities and bringing in more
smart capital, the establishment of
the CIN and the related investment
mechanisms and activities have refined
Cyberport's additional role as a technology
investor and investment facilitator. The
memorandum of understanding we signed
with Henggin Investment Company (based
in Zhuhai, Guangdong), the strategic
partnership we formed with the China
Merger and Acquisition Association of Hong

5THE2018F EEE1001E ©

We launched the Cyberport Investors
Network (CIN) that now comprises a

membership of more than 80 leading

private equity and venture capital funds,

corporate investors, family offices, and

angel investors.

FHMIRRILT fﬂ&%iﬁi&ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁj 5C|N) ’
K513 80 Ak ENERERE
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FRTIRMEKEKS
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CIN HE B B 1%
Bl B & 1K TR EN BN B
WBERAHEBNR
REEE MR
AHEEREREN
BED e FA - BIS
BHKBAEER
7B FR‘AEl(Henggin
Investment Co.)%55]

TERBETSHE T

Kong, and our team’s contact and exchange WEEMA ©
programmes with Macau and Qianhai

(Shenzhen, Guangdong) are examples of

our ability to drive deal flow and cross-

boundary business development and

cooperation with the Mainland and particularly the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area. We have a growing pipeline of quality
investment targets and expect a further boost in investments in the
coming year.

Our second goal in boosting outreach efforts comes from a
realisation that Cyberport is a unique conduit that facilitates
Mainland and Hong Kong digital technology companies to go global,
and overseas digital technology companies to use Hong Kong as
a springboard to the Mainland, the Greater Bay Area, and the Belt
and Road markets, particularly the ASEAN region. This “"Hong Kong
plus” cross-boundary strategy plays to our strengths as a leading
digital technology hub in Asia and an international innovation and
technology centre, allows us to enrich our start-up ecosystem and
enables it to grow further in new dimensions.

Key Driver of Industry Development

As a flagship for Hong Kong's digital technology industry and ICT
sector, Cyberport receives tremendous support from the Hong
Kong Government. We are committed to fulfilling our public mission
aimed at implementing policies that will facilitate strong growth
in innovation and technology. For example, benefitted from the
initiatives set out in the 2017 Policy Address, under the Government's
Space Sharing Scheme for Youth, Cyberport has set up “Smart-Space
8" in Tsuen Wan for young entrepreneurs, our first co-working space
outside the Cyberport campus which allows us to extend our reach
and support to the wider community.
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Our close communication with industry leaders, academic and
corporate partners, the investors in the Cyberport Investors Network
and other stakeholders also enables us to convey the voices of the
industry and advocate for policy and industry development. In terms
of advocacy work, we sought opinions of Cyberport companies in
response to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's New Board policies to
accelerate capital markets development for technology companies
and hosted the conference on “New Board for New Economy”. We
also advised on various government policies and initiatives, such as
the Smart City Blueprint undertaken by the Office of the Government
Chief Information Officer (OGCIQ).
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There was also our contribution to the “Report on Promotion of
E-Sports Development in Hong Kong” that laid the foundation for
a new and promising industry with immense talent and business
development opportunities, especially for the younger generation. We
worked closely with the regulatory authorities and other government
agencies - the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, the Hong Kong
Economic and Trade Offices, the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council, InvestHK, Information Services Department and others - to
promote and facilitate the growth of the innovation and technology
sector in Hong Kong.

Looking Ahead

With our strong growth momentum, we will further enrich Hong
Kong's digital technology ecosystem to cultivate more talent for
Hong Kong and springboard more start-ups to success. We will
facilitate more technology companies and start-ups to leverage Hong
Kong's distinctive advantages and Cyberport’'s support, networks and
resources to venture into the Greater Bay Area. We will accelerate
Hong Kong's digital transformation and support Hong Kong to
become an international innovation and technology centre, to be
Asia's leading digital economy, to be a key international data hub of
the Belt and Road and the Greater Bay Area, and to implement the
vision set out in the Government’'s Smart City Blueprint.

We will promote and facilitate the development of new industries,
including e-Sports and Digital Entertainment, as well as foster
the development of frontier technologies such as Blockchain,
Cybersecurity, Al and Big Data to ensure that Hong Kong will
continue to stay at the forefront of digital technology development
globally. Following this, we will strengthen our role as a digital
technology investor, deepen and widen cross-boundary cooperation
and global outreach, and deliver quality digital technology investment
opportunities through the Cyberport Investors Network and the
Cyberport Macro Fund.

The digital economy is a vital and fast-growing component of the
world economy and Hong Kong must be an innovative and strong
participant and driver in order to remain competitive. Hong Kong
is taking advantage of national policies such as the Belt and Road
Initiative as well as Greater Bay Area developments, and the
International Innovation and Technology Centre positioning, and
Cyberport will add to Hong Kong's new efforts in attracting more
digital technology talent, experienced technopreneurs and smart
investment capital from around the world to generate synergy
and inject impetus for new development with Hong Kong's digital
technology companies and start-ups.
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In order to fulfil our public mission, our Board has upheld the
strongest governance and management best practices to ensure
that our strategic direction and work programmes are well aligned
with the Government’'s policy. Our operations team is professional,
experienced, diligent, energetic and passionate, and the Board is
confident that our operations team will continue to excel in achieving
our public mission. We are truly glad to see that our team members
are all committed and eager to contribute towards our public mission,
and we will continue to invest more in our human capital. Many new
opportunities are in front of us, and Cyberport will continue to be a
key driver of Hong Kong's efforts to become Asia's leading digital
technology hub and digital economy.

President Xi Jinping has expressed the Central Government's support
for Hong Kong to become an international innovation and technology
hub. Indeed, Hong Kong has many competitive advantages such as
advanced infrastructure, extensive global connections, world-class
tertiary institutions, a simple and low tax regime, and a solid legal
system. Being a key international financial center in Asia, Hong Kong
also enjoys unique advantages under the “One Country, Two Systems”
governance framework. As such, Cyberport will spare no effort in
continuing to foster Hong Kong to become the international data hub
for the Greater Bay Area and the Belt and Road, as well as promoting
digital technology development and collaboration in the region.

Finally, | would like to thank our Board for its leadership and efforts,
our operations team for their tireless work and contributions, and
partners and friends of Cyberport for helping to make Hong Kong's
digital transformation and leadership a reality. May we grow together,
and springboard Cyberport companies and Hong Kong to further
success on the global stage.

T e

Dr Lee George LAM #ZK1&1E L
Chairman of Cyberport #{8E:5 3=
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Cyberport’s efforts in inspiring youth, nurturing entrepreneurs, and
connecting partners took big steps forward in 2017/18. Over the past
year, we leveraged the thriving global, Asian, and local innovation
and technology scenes and the strong growth momentum of the
Cyberport ecosystem to generate a wealth of opportunities for Hong
Kong's innovation technology development.
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To further step up our efforts in talent cultivation, industry
development and integration of new and traditional economies,
we held 67 technology training sessions and over 180 technology
events and seminars, and provided more than 100 digital technology
internship jobs. Thirty-seven of our technology start-ups attracted
over HK$1.75 billion of investment in a year. Our FinTech cluster
continues to grow to over 250 companies, creating a wide range
of digital solutions for areas such as, Al, InsurTech, payment and
remittance, and wealth management.

Indeed, demand for digital transformation is trending up. An IDC
research on Asia-Pacific (excluding
Japan) revealed that spending on
technologies and services enabling
digital transformation was expected
to reach more than US$386 billion in
2018, recording an increase of 15.3%
against US$334.8 billion spent in )
2017. Meanwhile, a 13-market study companies Cy
conducted by Microsoft found that
80% of business leaders in the Asia-
Pacific, including those in Hong Kong,
were eager to transform to a digital
business to succeed and embrace the
opportunities of the Fourth Industrial
Revolution.

In the past year, We celebrated a number of

milestones, one of which included passing
the 1,000 mark of the number of technology
berport nurtured. We also
deepened engagement with local and
international stakeholders, and expanded the
landscape for technology investment.
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On the talent supply side, sentiment
among youth and academia towards
the prospects of innovation and
technology is improving, as evidenced
by the double-digit growth in the number of start-ups, as reported by
InvestHK, and the enhancing support that schools and universities
provide to students for their innovative endeavours; such as
popularising STEM education and supporting digital entrepreneurship.

Aside from this positive macro environment, we continued to receive
significant policy support from the government. This facilitated our
growth tremendously in 2017/18, when we celebrated a number of
milestones, one of which included passing the 1,000 mark of the
number of technology companies Cyberport nurtured. We deepened
engagement with local and international stakeholders and welcomed
more technology companies, industry associations, financial
institutions, and overseas delegations to our community.

We expanded the landscape for technology investment by launching
the Cyberport Investors Network (CIN) for the Cyberport ecosystem.
Through this network, we gathered investors from Hong Kong,
Mainland China and overseas countries such as Korea, Singapore,
Israel and the UK to meet with our outstanding start-ups and to
drive deal flow. In less than a year's time, members of the CIN
had participated in 15 projects by our start-ups and technology
companies, with a total investment of over US$27.05 million. All these
new developments spoke for the remarkable growth momentum of
the Cyberport community.
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Talent Cultivation and Development

In 2017/18, we witnessed an overall increase of 33% in the
participation rate of Cyberport's talent cultivation and enablement
programmes when compared to previous year. These included,
respectively, a 23% and 46% increase in applications to the Cyberport
Creative Micro Fund (CCMF) and Incubation Programme, our two
longest-running programmes dedicated to incubating start-ups; and
a 45% increase in applications to the FinTech-focused Cyberport
University Partnership Programme (CUPP). The developments
reflected the impact of the emphasis on STEM and the global shift
towards innovation and technology, which have drawn Hong Kong's
younger generation and education sector towards digital professions
and entrepreneurship.

Our hackathons, competitions, bootcamps, student projects,
and internship programmes over the year attracted over 4,000
participants, while the career fair drew more than 1,700 visitors.
We are excited to see the enthusiastic participation from the young
people, and their eagerness to gain first-hand experience in the
digital technology industry, as attested by the rise in applications
of internships and placements. In addition to inspiring youth with
innovation and technology and providing pathways for growth, these
occasions allowed us to scout promising talent and invite them to
join our incubation programmes.

Start-ups are an important driving force for the development of
the new economy, and for sustaining growth in the Hong Kong
economy. To provide them with comprehensive support and a vibrant
entrepreneurial environment, we launched one of Hong Kong's first
co-working spaces, Smart-Space, in 2009. As of today, Cyberport has
set up eight Smart-Spaces. Seven of which are on campus, supporting
start-ups from different cultural backgrounds and specialties. A new
Smart-Space 8, our first off-campus co-working space designated for
young entrepreneurs, gathers brilliant minds creating value for the
technology sector and Hong Kong's new economy.

Industry Development

At the heart of Hong Kong's digital technology industry, we witnessed
significant growth of start-ups we incubated, especially in terms of
fund raising -- Cyberport’s start-ups raised 83% more funding during
the year than in 2016/17. As of March 2018, the total aggregated
amount raised by incubatees, CCMF grantees, and alumni reached
more than HK$3 billion.

Cyberport focuses on Smart Living, FinTech, and Digital Entertainment
- three application clusters essential for Hong Kong's digital
transformation and new industry development - and Blockchain and
Al/Big Data - two technology clusters fundamental to numerous
digital technology applications.

Development of Smart Living solutions is in full swing within
Cyberport. Our technology companies, such as ORII, Ozmo,
Snapask, and Lynk, have created smarter and better ways of living,
communicating, working, and learning for our community, showcasing
that Cyberport start-ups have got both the capability and determination
to use technology to enrich our modern lifestyle. In 2017/18, we
established new avenues for these companies to showcase their
solutions to the public. These included an unprecedented partnership
with CSL to feature our start-ups’ loT devices and smart gadgets at
CSL's flagship stores in Hong Kong, and setting up a Christmas loT
market at Olympian City. In addition to raising market awareness
for industry ready solutions, the events we organised offered a new
collaboration model for enterprises and start-ups.
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FinTech continued to be the most vibrant technology sector in Hong
Kong, and we have pursued many initiatives including entering into
a closer partnership with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA)
to provide cross-boundary incubation to FinTech companies in Hong
Kong and Shenzhen. To nurture talent, we partnered with Accenture
to host the FinTech Innovation Lab Asia-Pacific, established the
Future of Banking Centre of Excellence at Cyberport with Finastra,
launched the Cyberport Venture Capital Forum (CVCF) with FinTech
sessions, and supported the Hong Kong FinTech Week and other
high-profile industry events such as the Asian Financial Forum.
Further to this, we led a FinTech

delegation to the UK to offer Hong

Kong's FinTech start-ups increased

avenues to scale.

Cyberport publi

During the year, Cyberport published
the “Report on Promotion of E-sports
Development in Hong Kong"”, outlining prospe
e-Sports’ immense prospects in Hong
Kong. The combination of emerging
technologies, digital entertainment,
creative content, hardware and
software development all present
exciting opportunities to our young
generation and diverse industries
from game development to event
management and entertainment.
The direction was well supported by
various stakeholders, including the
HKSAR Government who had budgeted
HK$100 million for Cyberport to
promote e-Sports development.

Hong Kong",

Integration of New and Traditional Economies

Applying digital technology to the existing economic model not only
creates opportunities and room for new economy to blossom but
also enhances traditional economy's competitiveness. In 2017/18,
thanks to new collaborations formed with an array of financial
institutions, enterprises, and organisations, we recorded a triple
growth in collaboration in exploring digital solutions and business
opportunities. Industry practitioners became keener on learning
about the latest technology trends, use cases, and best practices, as
reflected in their enthusiastic participation in more than 180 industry
events and training that Cyberport organised or supported. We also
leveraged the Cyberport Enterprise Network (CEN) to engage leading
corporations to explore digital solutions developed by companies
in our community so as to speed up their progress of digital
transformation. Initiatives included hackathons for international
banks, enterprises and institutions of different fields such as Hang
Seng Bank, Citibank, Bank of China, the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority, SmarTone, and the Law Society of Hong Kong.

Digital technology has undoubtedly become a key to success
for businesses and an essential economic driver for Hong Kong.
Acknowledging this trend and setting their mind to help speed up
the digital transformation of enterprises, start-ups in Cyberport
that specialise in Al and Big Data are developing more value-added
and market-ready innovations to encourage companies to adopt
technologies. For example, Zegal, a Cyberport start-up providing a
cloud-based legal service platform which allows SMEs to tailor-make
their legal documents at a reasonable cost. Another case in point
is Clare.Al, which develops chatbots for businesses to help them
automate customer service.
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Our series of signature events have also been instrumental in LSt > SEEE—RDIBYEEESMINRS|E
attracting traditional industries to understand more about digital ~#E{TEZE > FEULIRE FSEHL AR T
technology adoption. Our annual Internet Economy Summit (IES), co-  #% o £/ > 8BS BEF BT S  RBUT
organised with the HKSAR Government and steered by the Office of ~EaNEHXABEE I A EEHN —F — & [H K
the Government Chief Information Officer (0GCIO) engaged more than B IEE ) (IES) » k5| 7 #8iH2,000% 577
2,000 industry executives to explore how digital innovation created — R#f * EREY2XAS BUHTUN R SR B ATAS R 35 /%
new impetus for the new economy. This high-level industry event ILEFREREBESSASEHE > BIHITH
was graced by the presence of distinguished guests, including Chief ~EEMBABL T ERHARE « B SEET
Executive Mrs Carrie Lam as the officiating guest and Dr Shamshad & & » B2 A #11 & B F(ESCAP)HITIIE D
Akhtar, Under-Secretary-General of the United Nations and Executive #7048 - @jﬁi@ﬁﬁ@ (Dr Shamshad Akhtar)
Secretary of the Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the T EREG © FR TIESHP > TEIE ¥ S
Pacific (ESCAP), as a keynote speaker; while the Digital Entrepreneur  $84i5@38 ] /[DELF];%TU\%H%)\I*“ AERYFE B
Leadership Forum (DELF) examined the various applications and WAl E1TEZE > MCVCFAIFRET 2 IREIE
impact of Al across industries and CVCF discussed global successes 2 BRI DI LUR B RI4% 818 _E A BAFT R &
of smart investments and hot trends of venture capital markets in 82 o
the digital technology space.
To accelerate the growth of digital technology companies and A JIREIER KA BN E R KR < H AR
improve Hong Kong's technology investment landscape, we HRIIEEBENAISERR > HMATEHEEL
earmarked HK$200 million for the Cyberport Macro Fund (CMF) to EBEEIZEE® (CMRFEE 72EE > AR
spur co-investments in Cyberport's start-ups. In 2017/18, the CMF %@JT&HE%&@%%WEUﬂ:\ﬁﬂ’ﬂtHTﬁﬁ °
co-invested in two start-ups, Snapask and TravelFlan, with a pipeline  [22017/185 /& > CMFER Y [B)Snapask 5z TravelFlan
of investments in the works. It is foreseeable that CMF, together with ~ MEI#]AIABEE S} - Hﬁ?]‘ STEETTHEAM
our rapidly growing Cyberport Investors Network (CIN), will make an R & EH ° IR S » CMER TS5 ERE
even greater impact in the coming years. BN ERRRFRRRAARES] ©
Looking Ahead BEXRK
Hong Kong is well positioned to be a centre of international talent, BEEERABIBEAA L~ KEEPIEH,
a gateway for Greater Bay Area cities, and a FinTech hub to connect ™ ARERABHR P OBRM > B —fH—EREZK
Belt and Road countries to the Mainland and the world. Cyberport's 32 Kt SR o 2AEEBRIDME © A8
solid foundation, vibrant ecosystem, distinctive role, and exceptional ~ RAFARFNF ~ ELFMT > J1_EBEARIBEIPR
international network allow us to become an international innovation 4848 > sEES B A BEREIBR A BEEA
and technology centre for digital technology. R R AR o
In addition to fulfilling our public mission, we will actively foster PR BEAREHIN - KT BRBEEES
pivotal clusters to enrich the innovation and technology ecosystem. —#iRH XA > CAIM R MK ERRFE D
Apart from spurring industry development in e-Sports and Smart & ° EHEENBHRITERE SEEZER >
Living, while strengthening our existing foundations in FinTech, BifE—TEZESRTIRAVER > WEEE
Cyberport will maintain the focus on Al/Big Data and Blockchain, HEEATERE  ABERMARIREE o SLER
technologies that are fundamentally transforming societies and ¥ IZIEEM FEE ~ TEIRIKCEIEA T
taking the global economy into a new era. The global growth these  #C7CHIRAE o FESTTE RZR105 > BFIRFAIR
technologies will create in the next decade is estimated to be in IKAEREUNBRBETAIEE ©
trillions of US dollars.
The Power of One TR & —I0
Community is at the heart of everything we do. Our technology EURSEBOLEME > EEEF N o 2EEMAOE
community, start-ups and industry partners are essential to the ItL8f s VRAIEERITEBHBFE H > #
vibrancy of Cyberport. Meanwhile, our strong staff are ambassadors BB A GEEFIERE > T HRBR c FiBE—
who exemplify the spirit of Cyberport, being passionate in engaging » 2EEFEEBUHE BB 5
industry partners, committed to serving our community, and ZERFIBFERAEE o I ERBRIEZEETT
resourceful in coming up with ideas to expand our ecosystem. FBH  2LEERFHHLE » BT
Without the tireless effort and dedication of the staff members, the — BIFTRFIGFESBEBLER R - NEIAESNA
Company would not have been able to come so far. Egﬁ'ﬂﬁiﬁ’ﬁ » BRZURER LIRS - B
__r_ = o
| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Government and 375 EZFE LR & RIS R EE B R HEER
our Board of Directors for their unwavering support to Cyberport, by  BY2$F > BLEUSBNE RS LG TIEEHE
lending us their guidance and direction on the best way to serve our & > ERFIMEIRYT > 202 ERHBHEEK
community and industry stakeholders, and usher Hong Kong further  {T2FHAE » (RESEBEREISMTEL ©

into the digital century.

Peter YAN King-shun {£21{3
Chief Executive Officer 1TIECAE%E
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Lee George LAM
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Chairman of Cyberport
HEEE LR

Chairman

Dr George LAM is Non-Executive Chairman - Hong Kong and ASEAN Region
and Chief Advisor to Macquarie Infrastructure and Real Assets Asia. He
has over 30 years of international management experience across the
telecommunications/media/technology (TMT), financial services, consumer/
healthcare, infrastructure and energy/resources sectors, and has served in
leadership roles (including Executive Director, Chairman, Vice Chairman, CEO,
COO0 and General Manager) with several leading multinational corporations
including Hong Kong Telecom, Singapore Technologies Telemedia (Temasek
Holdings), Macquarie Capital, BOC International Holdings (the Bank of China
group) and Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (CP Group). He has
extensive experience and connections in the innovation and digital technology
spheres and in general management, strategy consulting, corporate
governance, direct investment, investment banking and fund management.

Dr Lam has also been actively participating in community service. Currently,
he is a member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government's
Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-industrialisation, the Belt and
Road Committee of the Hong Kong Trade and Development Council, and the
Court of the City University of Hong Kong, Chairman of Monte Jade Science
and Technology Association of Hong Kong, Honorary Advisor to the Hong Kong
Business Angel Network (HKBAN), President of the United Nations Economic
and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable
Business Network (ESBN) Executive Council and Chairman of its Task Force
on Banking and Finance, a Board member of Pacific Basin Economic Council
(PBEC), and Chairman of the Permanent Commission on Economic and
Financial Issues of World Union of Small and Medium Enterprises (WUSME).
Apart from serving on local and international public bodies, Dr Lam has
also taught at Tsinghua University, the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, the Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Baptist
University and the City University of Hong Kong. He is committed to nurturing
talents and youth and next-generation SMEs, and fostering the development
of Hong Kong's digital economy and ICT sector.

Dr Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science
and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada; a LLM in Law from
the University of Wolverhampton in the UK; an MPA and a PhD from the
University of Hong Kong. He is also a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong
(and formerly a member of the Hong Kong Bar), a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Arbitrators, a Fellow of CMA Australia, and an Honorary Fellow
of CPA Australia and the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and
Continuing Education (HKU SPACE).
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Philip CHAN Ching-ho, BBS
PRIEZ:, BBS

Deputy President and Provost of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

EBETABEBREBEIRE

Board Members

Professor Philip Chan is the Deputy President and Provost of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical
Engineering from University of California at Davis, and Master of Science and
Doctor of Philosophy degrees in Electrical Engineering from University of
Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (UIUC). He taught at UIUC and then joined Intel
Corporation.

Professor Chan joined The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 1991 as a founding member. He is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institution of
Engineering (HKIE), Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers (IEEE) and
Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences (HKAES).

Professor Chan was a director of the Hong Kong Applied Science and
Technology Research Institute Company Limited (ASTRI), and Chairman of
the Technology Committee. He is a non-official member of the Committee on

Innovation, Technology and Re-industrialisation.

He received the Bronze Bauhinia Star from the HKSAR Government in 2013.
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Karen CHAN Ka-yin, Jp
REH, r

Executive Director of

German Pool Group Company Limited
EEEEEERABRNTES
(Appointed on 1 April 2018
1220185481 HEZE)

Board Members

Ms Karen Chan is the Executive Director, Marketing and Business
Development Division of German Pool who transforms the company into an
020 savvy and innovative organisation. Ms Chan holds a double degree in
Business Administration and Economics from Washington University, a Master
in Education Corporate Training from the New York University and a Master of
Science in Marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Ms Chan takes up various public service roles in the manufacturing and
vocational education sectors. She is the Vice-President of both the Young
Industrialists Council and the Hong Kong Furniture Industry Council of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries (FHKI), Appointed Council Member of
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Adjunct Professor of Hong Kong Baptist
University. Ms Chan received FHKI's Young Industrialist Award in 2009, the
Young Women Innovator Award by APEC in 2013, and Ten Outstanding Youth
Persons in 2014. In 2017, she founded the Hong Kong 020 E-Commerce
Federation and was nominated as the Chairlady of the Federation.
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From Left to Right ((BAEZEA)

CHEUK Wing-hing, Jp

EKE, p

Permanent Secretary for Innovation & Technology

R ERE B EEMER

Duncan CHIU
ERiEMR
Managing Director of Radiant Venture Capital

EHEABRAREEMEICIE

Board Members

Mr Cheuk Wing-hing has served in various bureaux and departments. He was
Director of Food and Environmental Hygiene from 2007 to 2010, Commissioner
for Labour from 2010 to 2014 and Director of Administration and Development
in the Department of Justice from 2014 to 2015. He was appointed Permanent
Secretary for Innovation and Technology in November 2015.

With over 20 years of investment and M&A experience in the Greater China
region and several IPOs in the Hong Kong and Shenzhen Stock Exchanges,
Mr Duncan Chiu founded Radiant Venture Capital (Radiant) in 2014 to focus
on early-stage investments into technology start-ups. Since then, Radiant has
already invested into more than 30 start-up companies in Mainland China,
United States, Israel and Hong Kong. He regularly participates and speaks at
technology forums and conferences to promote the start-up culture in Hong
Kong, and also helps young entrepreneurs through business plan workshops
and mentorship. Mr Chiu is enthusiastic about information technology as
well as social and community-related affairs. He is currently the President
of the Hong Kong Information Technology Joint Council (HKITJC), Director of
the Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute Company
Limited (ASTRI) and Standing Committee Member of Shenzhen Association for
Science & Technology.
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Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching, JP
% AKE

BRE, 0P

Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers

BORUKESSMEBAEHBA

LAU Chun-kong, JP
2RI, 0P
International Director of Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

hERTERES

Board Members

Mr Humphrey Choi is PwC's China, Hong Kong and Asia Pacific Assurance
Leader and a core member of PwC'’s Global Assurance Leadership Team. He is
a member of PwC's China and Hong Kong's Management Board and a member
of PwC China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan's Executive Board.

Mr Choi has years of audit and advisory experience, and works with a wide
range of international and local clients. He has tremendous experience in
helping companies list on the Hong Kong and overseas stock exchanges. Over
the years, he has also played key leadership roles as the Hong Kong Markets
Leader, China and Hong Kong Middle Market Leader, a member of the Global
Middle Market Leadership Team and a member of the China and Hong Kong's
Board of Partners.

Mr Choi is currently a member of the Administrative Appeals Board and a
Director of Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
Company Limited (ASTRI).

Mr C K Lau is an International Director of Jones Lang LaSalle and is
responsible for the Asia valuation and advisory business of the firm. He is a
chartered surveyor and a fellow and Past President of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors. Mr Lau has a wide breath of experience in property valuation,
real estate consultancy and investment sales market.

Mr Lau is a member of the HKSAR Task Force on Land Supply, Subsidised
Housing Committee and Tender Committee of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority, the HKSAR Trade and Industry Advisory Board and the REIT
Committee of Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission.
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From Left to Right (I ZE )
Edwin LEE Kan-hing
ZFiRE

Founder & Chief Executive Officer of Bridgeway
Prime Shop Fund Management Limited

BERHESEERRABAPARITEUEE

Gregg G. LI Ka-lok
FRe

Board Members

Bridgeway Group was established by Dr Edwin Lee in 2001 as a business
broker and builder. In 2015, Dr Lee transformed it into Hong Kong's first SFC-
licensed asset management company, with primary focus on shop investment
and development, including type 1 (Dealing with securities), type 4 (Advising
on securities) and type 9 (Asset management) regular activities licenses.
Dr Lee is a Chartered Financial Analyst and a Certified Business Intermediary,
and received his Bachelor of Science in Finance and Master of Science in
Accounting from the University of Southern California as well as a Doctor of
Business Administration at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a focus
on entrepreneurship. In 2014, he completed the Owner/President Management
Programme at Harvard Business School. Bridgeway and Dr Lee were featured
twice as case studies by The University of Hong Kong, listed under Harvard
Business Review in 2010 and 2012 respectively.

Dr Gregg Li has been an innovation evangelist, a serial entrepreneur, and a
governance adviser for over 35 years. Today, he serves as the President of
Invotech, seeking innovative ways to reinvent the ecosystems of Hong Kong.

He is an advisor to the Business and Professionals Federation of Hong Kong;
the Center of Family Business at The Chinese University of Hong Kong;
and the School of Design of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
member of the Board of the Urban Renewal Authority.

Dr Li graduated from Washington University in St. Louis (Liberal Arts),
University of Hawaii in Economics (MA), The University of California, Los
Angeles (MBA), and University of Warwick (Engineering Doctorate).

He teaches courses in strategy, innovation and corporate governance in many
universities as a visiting professor and has received an Honorary Professor of
Practice in Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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From Left to Right ((HAZEA)
LING Kar-kan, sBS
ERE, ses

Hendrick SIN

EE

Co-founder and Vice Chairman of
CMGE Group Limited
RFERRHEFERBAKBEESRE
(Appointed on 1 April 2018
12018548 1 HER(E)

Board Members

Professor K K Ling is a professional town planner with extensive practical
experience and was the Director of Planning of the HKSAR Government from
2012 to 2016.

Professor Ling is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Planners (FHKIP), a
Registered Professional Planner (RPP) and possesses People's Republic of
China Registered Urban Planner Qualification. He was the President of Hong
Kong Institute of Planners from 2007 to 2009.

After retiring from the post of Director of Planning in November 2016, he
was appointed the Honorary Professor, Adjunct Professor and Professor of
Practice (Planning) respectively by The University of Hong Kong, The Chinese
University of Hong Kong and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is
now the Director of Jockey Club Design Institute for Social Innovation, The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr Hendrick Sin is a co-founder and the Vice Chairman of CMGE Group
Limited, the largest publisher on all platforms of mobile games in China.
CMGE was listed on the NASDAQ market in United States from September
2012 to August 2015, and it was China's first mobile game company listed
in an overseas stock exchange. Mr Sin is also the founding and managing
partner of China Prosperity Capital Fund, a private equity investment company
with a primary investment focus on PRC mobile internet businesses.

Prior to founding CMGE, Mr Sin had acquired 12 years of experience in
investment banking and had advised on a wide range of notable IPO and M&A
transactions involving projects in China/Hong Kong and throughout Asia.
Mr Sin has 20 years of experience in management, finance and investment
banking and throughout his career, he had worked very closely with PRC
enterprises and individuals.

Mr Sin received a Master’'s degree in Engineering Economics and Operations
Research from Stanford University in the US. He also holds three Bachelor of
Science degrees in Computer Science/Mathematics, Economics and Industrial
Management (with college honors) from Carnegie Mellon University.
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Rosana WONG Wai-man
"R
Executive Director of Yau Lee Holdings Limited

BAERBERARDNTES

Board Members

Ms Rosana Wong, Executive Director of Yau Lee Holdings Limited, leads
the green integrated corporation to develop and build a smarter and more
sustainable ecosystem by fostering and adopting technology, innovation,
science and urban spatial planning through exponential research and
development in this dynamic community.

Ms Wong is also a Vice President of Smart City Consortium and the
Chairperson of its Smart Living Committee, Deputy Director of China Green
Building (Hong Kong Council), Member of the Environment and Conservation
Fund Committee of the HKSAR Government, Member of Transport
Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, Member of the Long-
term Decarbonisation Strategies Support Group of Council for Sustainable
Development of the HKSAR Government, Council Member of The Better Hong
Kong Foundation, Member of The Zonta Club, Exponential Advisory Board
Member of Singularity University and Advisory Board Member of Center for
Integrated Facility Engineering (CIFE) at Stanford University.

Ms Wong holds a Bachelor Degree in Design from the De Montfort University,
a Master Degree in Design from the Royal College of Art in the UK, and
Executive Master Degree in Business Administration, Master Degree in
Philosophy both awarded by The Chinese University of Hong Kong and an
executive programme in technology from the Singularity University in the US.
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From Left to Right (B ZEA)
Rosanna CHOI Yi-tak
EEE

Partner of CW CPA
EEEHEEBIEBA

Gabriel PANG Tsz-kit
TR

Managing Director of

Firedog Creative Company Limited

MARIBARABESMEEE

Retired Board Members
(Retired on 31 March 2018)

Ms Rosanna Choi, Certified Public Accountant, is a founding partner of CW
CPA. She chairs the firm's Technical Committee and IT Committee.

Ms Choi is a Past Chairperson of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) Hong Kong branch, and has served on the ACCA Council
(global) since the 2011/12 financial year. She has also been the Chairperson
of ACCA's Global Forum for SMEs since 2013.

Ms Choi is an executive committee member of Social Ventures Hong Kong
and an audit committee member of Urban Renewal Authority. Appointed by
the HKSAR Government, she has been a member of the Business Facilitation
Advisory Committee since 2013 and a member of Board of Inland Revenue
since 2015. She was also a council member of the Hong Kong Baptist
University from 2011 to 2016, and the Deputy Chairperson of its Finance
Committee from 2013 to 2016.

Mr Gabriel Pang is the Founder and the Managing Director of Firedog Creative
Company Limited and has more than 18 years of experience in IT and creative
industries. Mr Pang founded the famous game company “Firedog Studio” in
1999, and is one of the pioneers in Hong Kong game development.

Mr Pang’s major public services includes the Chairman of Hong Kong Digital
Entertainment Association since 2008, Board member of Hong Kong Education
City Limited, Director of Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited,
Vice Chairman of Hong Kong Software Industry Association, committee
member of Commission on Youth, committee member of Hong Kong-Taiwan
Cultural Co-operation Committee, member of Exchanges with Taiwan Funding
Scheme Assessment Committee and member of Innovation and Technology
Fund's Enterprise Support Scheme Assessment Panel.
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From Left to Right ((BAZEA)
Alfred WONG Kwok-kuen
=EE

Jeny YEUNG Mei-chun
S
Commercial Director of MTR Corporation Limited

BRERARABEERE

Retired Board Members
(Retired on 31 March 2018)

Mr Alfred Wong was the Chief Technology Officer and Head of Information
Technology Division of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (HKEXx)
since April 2004 until he retired in September 2010. Earlier in his career,
Mr Wong had held several other senior IT positions at the HKEx and the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since rejoining the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong in November 1992. Mr Wong was a project leader at the Australian
Stock Exchange and a consultant application engineer at Australia's Westpac
Banking Corporation between 1987 and 1992.

Ms Jeny Yeung is the Commercial Director and a Member of the Executive
Directorate of MTR Corporation Limited ('MTRCL'). She is also the Chairman
of the board of Ngong Ping 360 Limited and director of MTRCL's subsidiaries.
Ms Yeung is a fellow of The Chartered Institute of Marketing and a chartered
fellow of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong.

Ms Yeung is an external member of the Cyberport Macro Fund Investment
Committee; and also a member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, the
Advisory Committee on Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District Partnership
Programme, the Marketing Management Committee of The Hong Kong
Management Association, and the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
Infrastructure Development Advisory Committee.

Ms Yeung was a member of the Advisory Committee on Publicity and Public

Education in Innovation and Technology of the Innovation and Technology
Commission of the HKSAR Government.
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Corporate Information
K*EEH

Address
Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited

Units 1102-1104, Level 11, Cyberport 2,
100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3166 3800

Fax: (852) 3166 3118

Email: enquiry@cyberport.hk

Website: www.cyberport.hk

Auditor

Ernst & Young

Principal Bankers

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Solicitors

Mayer Brown JSM
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Talent Cultivation and Development

ATIEREER

Cyberport as a cradle for budding talent

Cultivating our youth for the sustained development of the innovation
and technology sector is one of Cyberport's public missions. In recent
years, we witnessed a significant surge in youth enthusiasm for
innovation and technology from students in primary and secondary
schools to those of higher education institutions. The students are
intrigued by the possibilities of digital innovation and inspired by
the prospect of digital entrepreneurship. Cyberport has enriched
its talent cultivation and development efforts, not just to inspire
and nurture, but also to discover exceptional young innovators and
connect them to our ecosystem, the industry, and the new economy.

Cyberport offers a series of progressive initiatives targeting youth
of different backgrounds, skills, and goals. We organise hackathons
and competitions to challenge young people in idea jamming and
inspire them in innovation and technology; bootcamps to foster their
entrepreneurial readiness; incubation schemes such as the Cyberport
Creative Micro Fund (CCMF) Scheme to support idea prototyping;
student projects, internships, and career fairs to boost career
readiness; and the Cyberport Incubation Programme, Cyberport
University Partnership Programme (CUPP), Smart-Space, and
Cyberport Mentors Network to empower start-ups to realise their
entrepreneurial dreams.
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Stimulate interest in digital technology and unleash
potential

Cyberport is uniquely equipped for hosting hackathons of different
kinds. To meet the increasing interest of young people, educators,
and corporations, we hosted more hackathons in 2017/18 for young
people to unleash their innovative potential and for corporations to
explore innovative ideas.

FinTech is undoubtedly one of Hong Kong's most prominent digital
technology sectors, and financial institutions looked to Cyberport’s
start-ups for solutions throughout the year. Together with the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority, we supported the “Hang Seng Bank FinTech
Hackathon” and the “Bank of China (Hong Kong) FinTech Hackathon”
for FinTech start-ups and students to create Artificial Intelligence (Al)
solutions. We also supported Citibank's “Citi HK FinTech Challenge”
which invited FinTech developers around the world to use Citibank's
APIs to solve pain points of the industry.

Other industries wanted to engage start-ups and young innovators
for ideas to drive digital transformation as well. We co-organised the
first "SmarTone Hackathon” with SmarTone, Sun Hung Kai Properties,
SUNeVision, and Microsoft to challenge young innovators from
around the world to come up with PropTech to empower “Smart
Properties” for smarter living. Companies used these occasions to
learn new ideas and identify talent, while students earned invaluable
experience.
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Al is another technology that will fundamentally transform
economies. To inspire and educate students about Al, we organised
the Chinese Chess Challenge “1K vs Al" event, where 1,140 students
from 72 primary and secondary schools played against an Al Chinese
chess system simultaneously and set a world record. The event was
one of the celebrative activities to mark the 20th anniversary of the
HKSAR and was a highlight of 2017/18. Along with the seminars on
Al, the event pigued students’ interest in STEM and Al and spotlighted
Cyberport's role in the promotion of this transformative technology.

Cyberport's one-stop entrepreneurial support continued to be
sought-after. In 2017/18, 1,651 applications for CCMF and Cyberport
Incubation Programme were received, of which 175 grants were
approved. As for the Cyberport University Partnership Programme
(CUPP), 59 outstanding students were nominated by local universities
to join the programme’s third edition and attended a week-long
FinTech bootcamp at the Stanford Graduate School of Business.
Before and after the trip, the students spent time with top industry
experts to learn about the FinTech landscape in Hong Kong and
the US to help them develop market-ready solutions. All 21 teams
presented their innovative FinTech ideas to a panel of judges on
CUPP Demo Day and the top 11 teams won a HK$100,000 grant each
to kick-start their entrepreneurial dream.

038

ANIEERERKZEEN AT HHMR
FeoeABTHB T —RBERMHA  SEBE
2017/18EE M T AT AE, 5 >
T2 BEERE2 T/ NE > th{fiE R
SAEKEATESERAET > gliEaHARAL
#% o TAIH AT AE MEREBRITHE
I +BEFENFEITH— RRTEE
FEER; BTHRAEAIEEMRNSIN 58
TR EHSTEMR A TEERNEB > I
EREHIE B EEEE R RIS EH S
jj o

HIEEN BRI EZESTFEEATER
00 2017/18F F > CCMFR MBS B 1B B 5t
B HIFE165IFRRAF ) EPISREBBE
#t o tEoh 0 B = ECUPPE594 £ 4 A ith
KREIRZ 20N o 5201 7E9 B i s 7
BAEHBEMERD2EBP—BNSREE
BIZEE - 2INERTEBRERE » THREE
REENEMAEEERBER > UREBERRN
MG AE - BTHEX » 21EE XM
TEEEESENAFSRARES ; BE
1MBEEmS1000008cEFES » BIRAIE

)
= °

O

YEEB AT LD

#H5E 2017/18 F3K

Explore career development in the digital technology
sector

Demand for internship placements and employment opportunities
in the digital technology sector has increased. To support this
development, Cyberport continued to organise the Cyberport Digital
Tech Internship Programme in 2017, offering students placement
opportunities in Silicon Valley, Shanghai, and Hong Kong. We also
leveraged the government’s ITF Internship Programme that supports
Cyberport incubatees and tenants to hire interns for R&D with cash
subsidies. In 2017/18, we lined up 138 placements in 84 companies.

At Career Fair 2018, there were more than 100 technology companies
and start-ups featuring over 600 full-time and part-time job
opportunities and internships in the areas of IT, marketing, design,
business development, accounting, and other business areas. Senior
representatives from Alibaba, KPMG, Microsoft, and SAP came to
share insights on how digital transformation and digital innovation
were changing job skills. The event attracted over 1,700 visitors.
More internship and job opportunities were also provided through
the Cyberport Startup Alumni Association (CSAA) and other partners.

Aside from this, we collaborated with the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority on its Fintech Career Accelerator Scheme 2.0 (FCAS 2.0),
which aims to help the banking sector enhance FinTech research
and talent development. FCAS 2.0 includes referring FCAS interns to
major banks. Its aim is to provide opportunities for Hong Kong's fresh
or recent graduates to gain on-the-job experience. The scheme also
features a gap year full-time placement programme where interns
can work on FinTech projects at the HKMA or in the 20 participating
banks.
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Establish a vibrant community and ecosystem to push
forward industry development

The diversity and strong bonds among Cyberport community
members have propelled our ecosystem and industry development.
This was displayed at the "Cyberport Entrepreneurship Programmes
Graduation Ceremony 2017", when many alumni returned to celebrate
the graduation of new incubatees, grantees, interns, and the
milestone of 1,000 community members.

Examples of community collaboration are aplenty. MYLAMSTUDIO,
a former incubatee that has successfully expanded into Japan and
Mainland China, is helping Farm 66, the Jumpstarter-winning start-up
that specialises in growing aquaponic vegetables, to expand into
those countries.

In 2017/18, CSAA also became more structured and institutional. The
maturing alumni association held more cluster-specific activities to
bolster growth and mutual support, targeting the likes of FinTech,
MediTech, Smart-hardware, E-Commerce, EduTech, and hosted a
"CSAA Connects the World Dinner” which gathered 85 partners,
enterprises, and CSAA sub-committees for networking and exploring
collaboration. CSAA also collaborated with HKU SPACE to show 30
students with Higher Diplomas in Digital Media and Communications
four start-up projects, inviting them to review the User Interface/
User Experience.

040

SEENEERERRSE > UHE
BITEER

HEBREENRER RS EEERE
B BBERRMRTEER - £ T8EE
BIZESTE2017) EXHE L —RREEE
—E > BRESLE RPEEREBRLEN
wm BN o [FRSAREEE SIS BV E 1,000
B> B 7 — B8 -

BEE@RNEEESTENG F R o BUSEE
BRBLMBEERIEE H AR KPP EAH
%> BHgZEITAMMSEES 2B G
PJumpstarter B > EFfREE AR HE
4 ) (aquaponics)RYFAE ©

2017/18FE FE » CSAARI 2 18 K | E & B 58
= BRI E RN T ELBITER
EE o BRI RSB - BERE - 5
B EFmBAMEREEHE > RES
EREEEMME - REZINEP T ICSAA
EEBHEET) > ASKZAEREE PER
CSAAMBZEZRHEEARRNIEE » R
SIERIRIAENE o ESN » CSAMBRF B A BHE
EEEIREFEE » Mm3072 SE RS R EE
SHRSCRBERTHEVAICENIEE » B
FMPETmBEENER RAE AP

Accelerate growth and create an entrepreneurial
environment for start-ups and talent

Cyberport has always strived to provide the most comprehensive
suite of support to start-ups along their entrepreneurial journey, in
response to new industry needs with targeted initiatives to accelerate
the growth and success of start-ups.

The quality of start-ups and their solutions in Hong Kong has
improved significantly over the years, with the companies being more
enterprise ready, their founders more seasoned, and their business
plans more solid. In the past, start-ups would only be able to gain
traction in their second year of incubation, but some start-ups now
begin their fundraising five to six months after admission into the
CCMF or Cyberport Incubation Programme. This has also led to a
higher success and sustainability rate.

The needs of the incubatees have also diversified. We have FinTech
start-ups who are founded by seasoned finance professionals that
look for networks with partners and regulators, both of which
Cyberport can provide. We have also attracted overseas applications,
some of which are already successful in their home markets. They
would like to use Cyberport as a springboard to enter the Asia-Pacific
and Mainland China markets. Accordingly, Cyberport has connected
these start-ups to mentorship opportunities where they can become
China-ready.
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In 2017/18, Cyberport consolidated its mentorship programmes
and formed the Cyberport Mentors Network to offer mentorship to
Cyberport community start-ups regarding early-stage support and
mature-stage industry domain issues.

Serial entrepreneurs and elite mentors such as Herbert Chia,
formerly of Sequoia Capital China, were invited to serve as mentors
for the programme. A Cyberport Start-up Clinic consultation service
was also debuted, where one-on-one, topic-specific consultations
were arranged for start-ups. This form of mentorship was well
received by start-ups, and more business areas will be covered in the
future.

Cyberport also engaged the UC Berkeley Sutardja Center for
Entrepreneurship & Technology and conducted two start-up
venture fund workshops where world-class investors and serial
entrepreneurs shared tips on the secret of success in pitching.

To encourage innovative talent to sustain their good ideas,
Cyberport continues to connect them to the right people and offer
various kinds of support even they have yet to gain a place in our
highly competitive incubation programme. We kick-started the
establishment of Cyberport’'s first off-campus co-working space,
Smart-Space 8, in Tsuen Wan specifically for young innovators
aged between 18 and 35 to support their need for in-city working
space. All Smart-Space 8 users will have access to Cyberport's
support and network, just as their on-campus counterparts. We also
connected start-ups in the Cyberport Guangdong-Hong Kong Young
Entrepreneur Programme to national competitions and opportunities
to land in the Mainland market.
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We increased the CCMF's intake to three times a year to provide
more application opportunities to start-ups. In addition, we invited
our co-working space partners to send their outstanding start-ups to
join the Cyberport Incubation Programme to tap the resources and
assistance offered by the Cyberport community.

All of these developments reflect the diversity of today’s innovation
and technology landscape. Cyberport will continue to respond with
targeted strategies and fulfil our role as an international innovative
and technology centre as well as a stepping stone to success.

Looking forward

With an expanding array of talent cultivation initiatives, Cyberport
will take a systematic approach and group all its talent cultivation
programmes — CCMF, Cyberport Incubation Programme, CUPP,
Cyberport Accelerator Support Programme, Cyberport Macro
Fund, and Cyberport Startup Alumni Association — under the
umbrella of the "Cyberport Academy” for enhanced coordination and
development.

To capture the monumental growth in the e-Sports industry,
Cyberport will dedicate our efforts in cultivating talent and start-ups
in content and technology development in this cluster. We have
launched a Diploma in e-Sports Science programme with HKU SPACE,
and will explore the possibility of starting similar programmes with
other local and overseas educational institutions to amplify the
efforts and nurture more e-Sports talent for Hong Kong.

As announced in the government's 2018/19 Budget, the financial

assistance offered under the Cyberport Incubation Programme to
individual start-ups increased from HK$330,000 to HK$500,000.
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Eddie RONG
&

CEO & Co-founder
BERHITE RESRIHEA

Actualising an innovative idea by starting up is a dream for many
young people. Or as HEYCOINS' co-founder Adam once said, “If | had
not started this, | would have regretted it for the rest of my life."

The story of HEYCOINS began when Adam and Eddie, two university
students who, like many people, had too many unused coins on hand,
decided to solve the pain point. They wanted to find a smart and
convenient way to use the coins. So they came up with an idea of a
coin machine that allows users to convert unused coins into digital
currency and store it in an e-Wallet. While still being undergraduate
students, they joined the Cyberport Guangdong-Hong Kong Young
Entrepreneur Programme (GD-HK YEP) to explore the idea further
and afterwards, the Cyberport Incubation Programme to turn the
concept into reality.

“Both of us were business students and we were not well versed
with technology. At the GD-HK YEP, we met other students with an
IT background and attracted them to join our project. Together we
designed and built a prototype of the HEYCOINS Kiosk for a smarter
way to live,” said Adam.
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Fast forward two years, and HEYCOINS Kiosks can now be found
at more than 20 locations across Hong Kong. In addition to topping
up an e-Wallet, the digital currency can be used to purchase gift
vouchers and make charitable donations to NGOs. HEYCOINS has
started launching the kiosks in Macau and Singapore as well,
processing Macau Pataca, Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars, as well as Malaysian Ringgit.

“The mentorship we received from industry veterans and the
exposure we received from Cyberport have been the most helpful to
our growth,” said Eddie. “We had the opportunity to promote not just
in Hong Kong but also in Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shanghai, Singapore,
and Thailand. The Cyberport brand has also helped to instil
confidence in the people we meet, particularly those from overseas.”

HEYCOINS has gained much synergy from the Cyberport community
as well. Featured on HEYCOINS Mall are products and services
of many Cyberport start-ups. These include offerings from start-
ups such as Nosh, Klook, and GoGoVan that can be purchased with
HEYCOINS. The start-ups even cross-promote one another’s services,
creating a win-win situation.

When asked about the secret of their success, Adam and Eddie said
it was their team that set HEYCOINS apart. “"Our team is young and
energetic. We're all part of the post-90s generation, and are self-
motivated doers. And the experience we gained — from manufacturing
our product, solving the many challenges in operations, meeting the
Hong Kong Monetary Authority’s regulatory requirements, to creating
value to customers, enhancing customer service, and identifying
partnerships — all has strengthened our start-up and made us
unique.”

This team-wide entrepreneurial spirit has also attracted other tech
and non-tech young people to join the company. And it plays to
HEYCOINS' advantage, as 80% of its users are between the ages of
13 and 25. “Many young people do not have credit cards, so they turn
physical cash digital for their online spending,” said Adam.

Eddie added: "Our team and our users have given us a youthful and
energetic image. This, combined with our user-friendly technology
and how we educate users about digital currency and e-Wallet, has
attracted businesses to work with us. Many housing estates and MTR
stations now use our machines to offer smart living solutions to their
residents and users.”

Having received the support from Cyberport that catalysed their
entrepreneurial pursuit, Adam and Eddie are now focusing on
expanding HEYCOINS and strengthening its branding, marketing, and
operations to bring the service to more places and people
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Benjamin LAI
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Co-founder & Lead Designer
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Turning passion into a business is easier said than done. However,
Kenneth and Benjamin, two music-loving students at the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology (HKUST), have succeeded in
doing just that.

Observing how professional music production systems are often costly,
difficult to transport, and come with a steep learning curve, Kenneth
and Benjamin created a music production app that allows musicians to
easily create music wherever they are.

Kenneth, a pianist, guitarist, drummer, and a computer science student,
has been passionate about pop music composition and arrangement
since he was a child. He met Benjamin, a pianist, violist, and computing
engineering student, at HKUST. The two shared a drive to democratise
music composition and production and decided to put their digital
signal processing skills to use.

For their final year project, they developed an app that can accurately
convert voice to MIDI, which finally is translated into the sounds of
musical instruments. A user can simply sing or hum into their phone
and listen to the melody played back realistically by flute, grand
piano, string instruments, or guitars. They can then tweak the rhythm,
tempo, and key, add sound effects, juxtapose melodies, and share the
professionally produced music with others. All of this is done with an
intuitively designed app available on an iPhone or iPad.
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Interested in publishing the app and turning a student project into a
business, Kenneth and Benjamin founded UMix Music and applied for
Cyberport Creative Micro Fund (CCMF). They used their HK$100,000
grant to refine the app's user interface, user experience, and features,
and turned it into a marketable product, the UMix Music App.

“As computing students, we are knowledgeable about technology but
we knew very little about business. CCMF gave us an opportunity to
further develop both our product and our business,” said Benjamin.
“Our CCMF mentor, Lindsay is a software developer with a background
in music. One of the key lessons he taught us was that in business, you
must act fast. A business cannot spend years developing a product but
must launch it as soon as possible.”

The two heeded the advice and soon released a beta version for public
users. It is still some way away from their ideal version that will come
with more features and tools for different users, such as real-time
collaboration and different visualisation modes, but UMix has already
gained fans and recognition.

At the Hong Kong ICT Awards 2018, the UMix Music App won the
Student Innovation Grand Award. Judges recognised the novelty and
innovativeness of the solution and its great market value.

Kenneth and Benjamin are about to graduate from CCMF and they
have already applied for the Cyberport Incubation Programme. The two
are determined to continue their entrepreneurial journey and already
have many plans and ideas for their business.

“We want to build a community of content creators and encourage
more music composition and production to enrich the local music
industry,” said Kenneth.

Indeed, the start-up has inspired not just fans but also potential
partners. Many of the co-founders’ classmates have asked to join the
team, even those who are not from an IT background. The two are now
identifying the right partners with skill sets to complement their own,
especially in refining the product, which is their top priority.

“UMix is one of the first solutions of its kind in the world,” Kenneth
said. "CCMF has allowed us to turn a student project into a marketable
product and to start a company. Now we are going to commercialise it
and grow our business,” he added.
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Cyberport as a catalyst to drive industry development

As Hong Kong's flagship digital technology incubator, Cyberport
nurtures digital entrepreneurs and catalyses industry development.
Our goal is to establish innovation and technology as pillars of Hong
Kong that will create continuous impetus for our new economy.

We have identified FinTech, Smart Living, e-Sports, Al, and Blockchain
as clusters with the highest growth potential. These clusters play to
Hong Kong's advantages; and Cyberport has aligned its strategies to
foster their development.

With an increasing number of digital entrepreneurs in Hong Kong
and technology companies reaching maturity, Cyberport focused
its efforts on developing new branding and business channels and
upgrading our investment matching and funding support in 2017/18.

Cyberport’s efforts in driving digital industry development
FinTech

FinTech is the technology domain achieving the fastest growth in
Hong Kong. Cyberport's holistic approach to cluster development—
in which we engage start-ups, industry, enterprises, investors,
regulators, and youth—has established a thriving FinTech ecosystem
that has made us a forerunner in Asia.
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In 2017/18, Cyberport's FinTech community grew to 250 companies
and more are joining every month. This is attributable to Hong
Kong's deep pool of talent, vibrant ecosystem, concentration of
decision makers of major global financial institutions, and abundance
of institutional capital, all of which have created ideal conditions for
investments and adoption.

In recognition of the outstanding achievements of Cyberport's FinTech
start-ups who outperformed their rivals in various major worldwide
competitions, a number of awards were granted to them in the past
year, including the 2018 Hong Kong ICT Award, the ETnet FinTech
Award 2017 and the DIT Hong Kong FinTech Awards 2017 organised
by the Department for International Trade of the UK.

Many FinTech start-ups are ready to scale. To connect them to a
larger stage, Cyberport, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, and the
Hong Kong Information Technology Joint Council led the largest
FinTech delegation to London in September to showcase Hong
Kong's FinTech leadership and foster connections and business
opportunities. More than 70 government officials, start-ups, and
representatives of banks, investors, and professional bodies joined
the delegation. Aside from visits, meetings, and networking activities,
the delegation visited Accenture’s “FinTech Innovation Lab”, met with
representatives from FinTech companies in the UK and exchanged
ideas about digital transformation for banks with local banking
leaders. The Hong Kong government signed a FinTech Bridge
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Agreement with the UK government to promote collaboration. TNG,
one of Hong Kong's leading FinTech companies, and the Institute of
Financial Technologists of Asia, the first certification body in Asia
for financial technologists, also sealed partnerships with their UK
counterparts.

This successful mission spawned many new collaborations.
Representatives of the University of Oxford and University of
Cambridge visited Cyberport to learn about our experience in FinTech
development and to seek collaboration, RBS bank came to look for
FinTech solutions; and Finastra set up a “Future of Banking Centre of
Excellence” at Cyberport to foster banking innovation in Hong Kong.

Cyberport's FinTech start-ups and their award-winning, market-ready
solutions continued to attract industry interest. In 2017/18, banks
such as HSBC, Dah Sing Bank, China Construction Bank, and DBS
approached Cyberport for solutions, with a focus on cybersecurity,
KYC, onboarding, wealth management tech, Al, and blockchain.

Signing Ceremony for
HKU x Cyberport Digital Tech
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JUMPSTARTER 2017 GRAND FIMALE

To enhance our engagement with the academia, facilitate research
and development, as well as connect budding FinTech talent to
our FinTech ecosystem, Cyberport partnered with the University
of Hong Kong to launch the "HKU x Cyberport FinTech Nucleus” at
Smart-Space FinTech.

FinTech Week

Cyberport also actively cooperated with FinTech companies in
Mainland China. While participating in the "FinTech Week", Cyberport
entered into a cooperation agreement with the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority and Shenzhen Municipal Government Financial Services
Office. The collaboration aims to provide cross-boundary support
to FinTech companies in Hong Kong and Mainland China in order to
leverage the wealth of opportunities emerging from the Greater Bay
Area.
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e-Sports

In 2017/18, Cyberport was commissioned by the Hong Kong
government to conduct an industry consultation study on e-Sports
development in Hong Kong.

The resulting "Report on Promotion of e-Sports Development in Hong
Kong” outlined the potential of e-Sports in Hong Kong, including
entrepreneurial and employment opportunities for youth in gaming
and digital entertainment content creation, software, hardware,
and e-Sports events organisation. It also examined opportunities in
technology, media, telecoms, and peripheral industries. We believe
e-Sports can be developed into a prominent industry that will benefit
Hong Kong's digital entertainment industry and its peripheral
industries.

Following submission of the report to the government, the Financial

Secretary earmarked HK$100 million in the 2018-19 Budget for
Cyberport to promote the development of e-Sports in Hong Kong.
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Cyberport provides critical ‘fuel’ for game changers

Cyberport's international network of partners and collaborators is
one of our strongest assets. It has enabled us to provide unparalleled
support to Hong Kong's start-ups, technology companies, and digital
entrepreneurs.

This powerful network has also allowed us to attract more global
technology talent, companies, partners, and investors to Hong
Kong to enrich our digital ecosystem; boost our competitiveness
in innovation and technology; and strengthen Hong Kong's
attractiveness as a springboard to regional and international
opportunities.

To bolster our community's access to the Mainland China market
and its leading technology companies and talent, and empower Hong
Kong's digital aspirations in the Greater Bay Area and along the Belt
and Road, we continued to further enrich our Mainland connections in
2017/18. Partnerships included ZhongAn, China's first online property
insurance company and a pioneer in InsurTech, and Hash Key.

FRTAW
T
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Internationally, aside from the delegation to London, we led several
major overseas delegations to Singapore, Silicon Valley, and Israel to
showcase Hong Kong's start-ups. The delegations have provided the
start-ups with invaluable opportunities to join key industry events,
meet foreign investors, identify accelerators, and generate leads for
global expansion.

Cyberport drives investment

Cyberport reached a new milestone in start-up fundraising in
2017/18 when 37 companies secured over HK$1.75 billion in total
in investments, marking an 83% year-on-year increase. As of March
2018, the total accumulated funds raised by Cyberport’'s incubatees,
CCMF grantees, and alumni surpassed HK$3 billion. Highlights in
recent years included GoGoVan's merger with Mainland logistics
giant 58 Suyun that elevated GoGoVan to unicorn status, the first
from Cyberport; TNG's biggest-ever Series A funding round in Hong
Kong that added US$115 million to its war chest; and Klook's Series
C round and BondIT's Series B round that raised US$60 million and
US$14.25 million respectively.

The maturity, quality, and variety of Cyberport's start-ups have given
investors confidence. Eyeing the strong demand for investments
and projects, Cyberport stepped up its efforts not only in attracting
investments and engaging more co-investments through the
Cyberport Macro Fund (CMF) to drive deal flow—including Snapask,
and TravelFlan—but also refining the technology investment
landscape of Hong Kong.

The Cyberport Investors Network (CIN) launched in November 2017
was designed to create a structured platform to engage worldwide
venture capitalists, angel investors, and private equity funds to
enhance the fundraising and deal-making capabilities of Cyberport
start-ups. In the few months since its formation, CIN has already led
to investment in 15 projects.

CIN now comprises more than 80 investors with 27 Mainland funds
including Fosun, Alibaba Entrepreneurs Fund, and Zhuhai Da Heng
Qin (DHQ) Company Limited. The investors appreciated the strengths
of our start-ups and the support available through Cyberport's
ecosystem, and have also referred their investment projects to
Cyberport.
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Looking forward

Cyberport’s holistic effort in industry development are growing apace,
and we will continue this strong momentum. For FinTech, we will cast
our focus on developing its sub-sectors, particularly cybersecurity,
RegTech, wealth tech, and InsurTech, that are creating broad impact
and applications that will also aid our efforts in integrating traditional
and new economies. In smart living, we will ramp up our efforts on
Al, Big Data, and Blockchain. For e-Sports, Cyberport will turn the
Arcade into a dedicated e-Sports and digital entertainment node with
the capacity, affordability, and technical infrastructure necessary for
large-scale e-Sports events. We will also organise industry seminars
and delegations to nurture talent and attract the industry, and public
education programmes to engage teachers, parents, and students.

Cyberport will deepen integration with Belt and Road countries and
the Greater Bay Area to gain more opportunities for Hong Kong's
digital technology sector. We will form more investment partnerships
within CIN, and invite CIN investors to co-invest with Cyberport. Our
partnership with DHQ, our co-investment partner, has been a success
that we can replicate with other Mainland and overseas funds.

More large-scale start-ups are looking for collaboration with
Cyberport, such as a prominent online lender looking for Al and core
banking technologies to complement their solutions. Other parties
include a Mainland technology titan hoping to test pilot projects at
Cyberport, along with Mainland unicorns looking to leverage Hong
Kong's financial services for financing, M&As, and IPOs, and Hong
Kong’'s Technology Talent Admission Scheme to attract overseas
talent for their companies. We shall continue to step up our services
and strengthen Hong Kong's role as an international innovation and
technology centre.
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Peggy CHOI
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CEO & Company Founder
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Digital technology has spawned many new entrepreneurs and
business models, including the sharing economy that continues to
revolutionise business, consumption, and service delivery. Peggy
Choi, a former private equity investor, recognised that companies
of all sizes and in all geographies were facing problems every day
that they lacked the right knowledge to solve quickly and effectively.
Together with her business partner, Peggy decided to explore a new
space: the knowledge sharing economy.

A Cyberport incubatee and the first recipient of the Cyberport Macro
Fund investment, Lynk is a data-driven knowledge-sharing platform
that unlocks knowledge and insights from experts around the world,
helping people and companies make better business decisions.
Lynk connects enterprises and individuals to experts with targeted
expertise for time-sensitive and business-critical advice through one-
on-one conversations or meetings.

Today, Lynk offers direct access to more than 50,000 professional
profiles in more than 80 countries, with experts including C-level
executives, retired senior management, independent consultants,
lawyers, and financial analysts, among others. Lynk generates
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business opportunities for experts, as the digital platform provides
them with flexible work opportunities where they can interact with
clients across borders and markets and remain deeply engaged in
their fields.

Lynk also enables broad-based access to knowledge, including for
those unable to afford traditional advisory services. Entrepreneurs
can engage Lynk's experts to validate venture ideas, business
plans, and review business pitches; start-ups can better understand
enterprise pain points and purchasing decision criteria; law firms
can identity expert witnesses for investigative cases; government
agencies and NGOs can conduct policy research; investment firms
can undertake on-the-ground due diligence on investment targets;
and senior management, board members, and strategy teams of
various organisations can learn about cutting-edge topics.

“We are now seeing even more switching between roles, where
users become experts and experts become users,” said Peggy. “This
might be the case, for example, when an expert has a product to sell
to banks and a user has the relevant experience to offer. There are
many possibilities.”

Lynk's business model is highly scalable. In only three years, Lynk
has rapidly expanded to Singapore, Mumbai, Zhuhai, and New York
City, and plans are underway for a greater Mainland presence,
including Shanghai. With this expansion, Lynk's team is also growing.
Peggy said, “Our team comprises seasoned senior executives, CTOs,
and an industry-leading global head of sales. They are committed to
our vision and values and have helped our young company to attain
three to four times year-on-year growth, which is very exciting.”

Peggy is very optimistic about prospects for international growth. For
example, Lynk’'s services enable businesses in emerging countries
to get affordable advice from experts in other markets. “Southeast
Asia is a hot region with growing countries. But many places, such
as Myanmar, still have traditional industries where information is
fragmented and many reports are not available to enterprises and
investors,” Peggy said. “By seeking the advice of Lynk’s verified and
trusted experts, enterprises that want to launch new industries and
markets can access more updated and accurate research.”

A graduate of the Cyberport Incubation Programme, Peggy said
she was grateful for the support Cyberport offered. “I appreciate
Cyberport's all-round incubation support, including market exposure,
networking, and investment, particularly in selecting us to be the
recipient of the first co-investment made by the Cyberport Macro
Fund, where we received US$4 million from investors including
Zhuhai Da Heng Qin, Hong Leong Group, and CRE Venture. As a
Hong Kong government-backed initiative, the Cyberport brand
adds credibility to start-ups especially in Hong Kong and Mainland
markets, and that has helped us significantly.”
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Ryanne LAI
Head of Lawyer Relations
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Innovate, start up, succeed, and pay it forward to others; that is at the
heart of the Cyberport community. In this spirit, Ryanne successfully
combined her legal profession and passion for technology and co-
founded Zegal, a LegalTech start-up that is now operating in five
markets across the globe. She is now also serving as a committee
member of the Cyberport Startup Alumni Association (CSAA), where
she helps to connect start-ups and promote mutual support and
growth.

Ryanne is a law graduate from The University of Hong Kong. While
working for an international law firm, she observed that SMEs would
rarely seek professional legal services. Some were concerned about
the legal fees that may incur and resorted to search engines for legal
documents. Others did not understand the risks they faced during
normal business processes.

With the goal of making legal services more accessible, Ryanne
teamed up with several like-minded partners and founded Dragon
Law (later renamed as Zegal) to offer affordable, digitised legal
services to SMEs. They joined the Cyberport Incubation Programme
and later the Smart-Space to turn concept into reality.
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“Having Cyberport’'s endorsement and the public exposure it offered
us has been invaluable to instilling trust in clients, which is one of
the most crucial elements for start-ups to establish and especially
important for legal companies like us.” said Ryanne.

Zegal offers a vast library of legal documents that users can freely
access and customise for their specific needs. From employment
contracts, confidentiality and partnership agreements, to website
privacy policies and term sheets, Zegal's resources are designed to
meet the needs of the business, administrative, and legal processes
of small and large companies alike.

The company also bundles the documents according to regular
workflows that organisations can easily follow to meet their legal
needs and avoid risks along every step of the process. Starting
from last year, Zegal partnered with more than 40 law firms around
the world to offer professional legal advice or services to its users,
so that they can easily connect to qualified lawyers using Zegal's
live chat tools whenever the need arises. All of these services are
available under subscription plans, so that businesses can anticipate
and control their spending.

After almost five years of development, Zegal's services have been
used by more than 30,000 start-ups, SMEs, large corporations,
and law firms across five common law jurisdictions — Hong Kong,
Singapore, Australia, New Zealand, and the UK.

The company’s services are enabling the legal industry's digital
transformation as well. “Law firms are now using our platform to
digitally upgrade their operations and modernise their legal service
delivery. They can easily use our online tools to better serve, manage,
and engage clients, or discover tools to train their junior staff.”

Zegal is working on enriching their offerings and attracting more
users to online professional services. "As more individuals and
companies are migrating to online services, we have started
collaborating with other online professional services providers as
well to offer complementary services to clients. We reckon both our
clients can be each other’s potential clients too.”
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Integration of New and Traditional Economies

B RBREEMS

Cyberport as a champion integrating new and traditional
economies

Cyberport is assisting more industries in upgrading and transforming
by connecting them to digital solutions, start-ups, and new economy
opportunities. We are empowering Hong Kong's workforce to become
technologically savvy and create more value in the new economy.
These efforts will accelerate Hong Kong's development as an I&T hub
and a smart city as well as strengthen our competitiveness.

Cyberport organises seminars and workshops to inform industry
practitioners of the latest technology trends, use cases, and
best practices in different technology domains, and international
symposiums, forums, and programmes to engage stakeholders in
high-level dialogue. In this way we are informing, inspiring, and
instigating a technological shift.

We are also facilitating the adoption and application of digital
solutions in existing business settings and opening up new channels
for start-ups and enterprises to collaborate.

Promote transformation across industries through
significant events

In 2017/18, Cyberport again hosted a number of high-profile
international events in FinTech, smart city, and other technological
domains.
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We hosted an InnoTalks session at the Asian Financial Forum to
share our insights on “Emerging FinTech Innovations for Asia”.
Cyberport also co-organised the Internet Economy Summit 2018 with
the Office of the Government Chief Information Officer (OGCIO), and
gathered thought leaders from around the world in exploring internet
technology applications, smart city development, next-generation of
businesses, as well as innovation and entrepreneurship.

Along with the United Nations Economic and Social Commission
for Asia and the Pacific, we co-organised the Asia-Pacific Business
Forum to explore how private sector-led innovation, technology,
and financing facilitate sustainable development across the Digital
Silk Road region. Meanwhile, the Cyberport Venture Capital Forum
2017 emerged as a platform to connect entrepreneurs to potential
investors and generate deal flow. In addition, our annual Digital
Entrepreneur Leadership Forum 2018 discussed the change
management in the new era of Al

Smart business

As more companies and industries undergo digital transformation,
we saw a rise in requests for business matching in 2017/18. This
development presented us with a prime opportunity to expand our
start-ups’ connections to enterprises and the larger market.

APBP

s oes oo FORUM 2018
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For example, we helped UBS look for start-up solutions for their
clients; matched DBS to cybersecurity and chatbot companies;
assisted banks to identify outstanding CUPP students; and connected
CSL, Samsung, and Hong Kong Electric to the Cyberport community
for digital solutions.

Smart living

An increasing number of Cyberport start-ups are developing smart
living applications, such as loT, wearables, and EduTech products,
and they need to connect their products to the market.

In 2017/18, Cyberport piloted a partnership with HKT to showcase
the loT products of ORI, CWB Tech, Kazoo, Air Button, and #WTM
at the "io.t by HKT” concept store in Elements. The successful
collaboration provided start-ups with a new channel to market and
develop sales networks, allowed consumers to find premier smart
living solutions, and aided HKT in driving new businesses. Seminars
were also held to discuss go-to-market strategies and methods for
start-ups to gain funding from enterprises. In addition, CSAA held a
“Ship and Sell” event at Olympian City’s Christmas Market to present
Cyberport start-ups’ smart living solutions to the public.
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FinTech

To connect and foster FinTech collaboration between technology,
academic, and commercial stakeholders, Cyberport joined the Smart
City Consortium and IBM to launch the “CSI Alliance”. Apart from
boosting FinTech development, one of the main goals of the alliance
is to connect FinTech start-ups to enterprises.

At the Citi HK FinTech Challenge 2017, which was a part of the
“Hong Kong Monetary Authority x Cyberport Haccelerator” initiative,
developers and FinTech companies from 14 markets developed
solutions with Citi's APIs to solve business pain points in a wide
range of areas and enhance the banking experience. The Demo
Day was attended by senior representatives of industry leaders,
corporations, and academia, and served as a showcase of the
possibilities and benefits of FinTech in real world settings.

Looking forward

As more industries seek digital transformation and integration with
the new economy, we shall continue to expand network and boost
our efforts in enterprise engagement and work more closely with
business associations to connect them to our start-ups and their
digital solutions. Cyberport's goal is to enhance the digital quotient
of Hong Kong and boost the adoption of innovative technology
by enterprises and citizens so as to accelerate Hong Kong's new
economy development.
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Asia's booming markets and thriving population have attracted many
overseas start-ups to come to tap opportunities. For Cédric Jeannot
of APrivacy, a cloud-based cybersecurity start-up headquartered in
Canada with a regional office at Cyberport, Asia is the right market
with many businesses ready to leapfrog. “Many useful technologies
in Canada are applicable in Asia. People here are willing to try new
things. Hong Kong is the ideal base to access all Asian countries.”

APrivacy'’s technology is designed to secure data and communication,
from email and instant messaging to VolP and video chat, on any
channel or device. It empowers companies to provide seamless
digital experiences such as authentication, payments, and secure
transmission to meet customer behaviour and maximise engagement.

APrivacy’s solutions enable financial services companies to leverage
consumer messaging apps to communicate with their clients while
meeting compliance requirements. The company’s patented platform
offers a security layer over any messaging app, providing an audit
trail of all information sent or received. The solutions have helped
traditional Financial Services Institutions (FSIs) to digitally upgrade
their operations for the new economy, meet customer demands, and
tap digital opportunities.
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APrivacy first came to Hong Kong in 2014 for Accenture's FinTech
Innovation Lab Asia Pacific, a 12-week accelerator programme
supported by Cyberport. “We were attracted by Cyberport's
community,” Cédric said. “The facilities are reasonably priced, the
Cyberport brand is good, and the events, networking, and business
matching that Cyberport organises are useful. As the Cyberport
community continues to grow, more people recognise that this is a
proper place to do business. Even the Canadian trade mission visited
Cyberport last year.”

“Hong Kong is a great place for scaling in Asia. There is the common
law system, all the amenities and infrastructure are well established ,
and travel is easy. There is also a domestic financial services market
here with most of the tier-one banks and insurance companies. It is
easy for us to refine our products here,” Cédric added.

The concentration of major financial services companies has
presented both challenges and opportunities to APrivacy. On the one
hand, ingrained habits can discourage the adoption of new solutions
despite the clear attraction and benefits. On the other hand, this
presents APrivacy with many potential clients. "It takes persistence.
But now we have become better at identifying the right clients.”

The company now runs projects in Thailand, the Philippines, and
Singapore, and Cédric is optimistic about its prospects. “The product-
market fit is there and the market is going where we are going.
People in emerging markets are underserved and are happy to try
and adopt new solutions. Asset management, funds, anything that is
regulated, like healthcare, are a right fit for us. We can create more
repeatable successes from our base in Hong Kong."
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Bank call centres often answer the same questions over and over.
Training is costly, time-consuming, and the turnover of trained staff
high. So Kinni, Harry, and Chi-hang, computer engineering classmates
at the City University of Hong Kong and participants in the first
Cyberport University Partnership Programme (CUPP), developed
a solution. Their strategy was to create a series of Al-powered
customer support services to help banks automate the processes.

“Our original concept for CUPP was to use machine learning to
predict pricing of an online room rental platform and help owners
maximise profits, but we changed our project to an Al chatbot
the day after we arrived at Stanford University for the CUPP
Entrepreneurship Boot Camp,” said Kinni. “We found that the apps
we developed were flooded with unanswered emails, and sales
dropped. We soon recognised that our pain point was also shared by
many other traditional businesses, so we developed an automated
reply system instead. It was the beginning of what would become
MindLayer,” Kinni added.
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MindLayer, who later joined the Cyberport Incubation Programme
after CUPP, now offers three main products: a proprietary Al chatbot
and platform that can be installed on-premises so that businesses
can control their own data and data privacy; a user-friendly tool
kit that lets users drag and drop to build Al applications, (also
MindLayer’s effort to democratise Al); and a Data-as-a-Service, which
helps clients source the types of datasets they need to train their Al
systems.

MindLayer’s subscription services are now used by global banks,
government departments, and public transportation agencies.
Its Natural Language Processing (NLP) engine can understand
ambiguous and sophisticated linguistic structures especially in
Chinese, including slang, regional dialects, as well as mixed context
of English and Chinese, which fits into Hong Kong people’s way of
speaking.

Kinni said he valued the Cyberport community for inspiring the team
to success. “The companionship is the crucial success factor. When
you are completely immersed in work and doing something new, you
need people who understand you, who you can talk with to share
your feelings and who will offer you timely advice. Some of our
friends have become our business partners.”

Harry, who is in charge of product development, said Cyberport's
network had connected them to many opportunities. “Cyberport often
invites industry practitioners to come and listen to the start-ups’
solutions. These are often clients who are a good fit for us and we
have had many follow up meetings.”

As for Chi-hang, he said the entrepreneurial mindset gained during
CUPP had benefitted them up to this day. “The professors at Stanford
University taught us how to identify client types, how to embrace
failure, and how successful entrepreneurs continuously look for
feedback to improve their offerings. That is how you turn ideas into
great products.”

MindLayer’'s next frontier is voice recognition, especially Cantonese
voice recognition. The three are very confident about the prospects,
as they see a rising demand from enterprises for on-premises voice
recognition solutions that can streamline workflow while maintaining
data privacy. “We have experience in helping enterprises successfully
solve their business pain points. Our product ecosystem covers
the digital transformation journey end-to-end, attracting NGOs,
governments, public transportation bodies, the retail and aviation
industries.”
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Cyberport's work would not be possible without the tireless
dedication of staff, working to support our start-ups and community
companies, upkeeping the Cyberport premises, ensuring exceptional
corporate governance, boosting healthy financial and board
operations, and maintaining outstanding openness and accountability.

People

Our team is our most important asset, and is spearheading Hong
Kong's digital technology development. Each year, our Human
Resources Team organises career exposure, staff engagement, and
team building activities to promote staff growth and development.

The annual dinner is always a highlight where we celebrate
achievements and meet new members, offering an occasion for
Cyberport management to express their gratitude. At the 2017/18
annual dinner, “Cyberport Sim City” and "Minute to WIN It" games
were played to enliven the evening and strengthen team spirit.

During the year, consultant-led management workshops were held
to review Cyberport's organisation structure and compensation
strategy. The workshops reviewed pay structure, rewards, incentives,
and salary benchmarks to ensure that our remuneration is aligned
with industry compensation plans and reward strategies.
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Client service is key

In 2017/18, in support of the government's Space Sharing Scheme
for Youth, Cyberport opened Smart-Space 8 in Tsuen Wan to meet
increasing demand of start-ups for working space. This first in-town
Smart-Space occupies an area of approximately 20,000 sqg ft with
34 offices, 48 workstations, and 60 flexi-spaces, along with meeting
rooms and break-out areas.

Coinciding with the opening of Smart-Space 8, the IT Operations
Team and Leasing Team deployed an integrated leasing management
system for use by all Smart-Spaces. Users can use a secure
web-based portal to check workspace availability, lodge applications,
and make payments, while Cyberport’'s leasing staff can access the
streamlined and automated system to enhance operation efficiency,
data analysis, and decision-making.
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To improve the efficiency of corporate contact management, a new
Contact Management System with more than 120,000 corporate
contacts was launched to significantly enhance Cyberport's
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) efforts by digitising and
standardising customer data and enabling analytics.

Cyberport also revamped part of its IT Street for the expansion of the
Entrepreneurship Centre (EC) to cater for the increasing demand for
space. The new EC offers 36 office rooms and 22 workstations with
meeting facilities; it is part of the evolving IT Street that will become
a showcase for incubatees.

During the year, Cyberport partnered with start-ups who offer smart
living solutions to test applying Sigfox and LoRaWAN technologies,
which operate with low energy consumption and wireless sensors,
for water detection, occupancy, and temperature measurements. The
results were very encouraging, and Cyberport will implement the
relevant technologies throughout the Cyberport campus in 2018/19.

The team also introduced community bicycles to the Cyberport
campus for public use and to promote green living. It is the only
location on Hong Kong Island where bicycle sharing is permitted by
the Hong Kong government.

Infrastructure and connectivity

While Cyberport's state-of-the-art facilities are continuously
upgraded, the Campus Management Team also enhanced the shuttle
bus service. This included implementing the TNG e-Wallet payment to
the Cyberport Tenants Bus Service, and launching services between
Cyberport and Tai Wai, Lam Tin, and Hang Hau, while adjusting the
departure time of the Mei Foo-Cyberport route.

Upgrades to the Cyberport buildings included improving
waterproofing, replacing cooling towers for air-conditioning system,
upgrading the building management system, installing a plastic
cover for the electrical busbar, adding two grey water systems, and
applying air cleaning paint technology to staircases. The initiatives
enhanced energy management and improved the quality of indoor
environment. We received industry recognition, including the Indoor
Air Quality (Excellent Class) for Offices and Public Places, 1AQwi$e
Certificate (Excellent Level), and Wastewi$e Certificate (Excellence
Level).
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Le Meridien Cyberport

Le Meridien Cyberport has long been an integral part of the
Cyberport campus, and a meeting point for digital talent and
technology professionals. It is a social centre point for Cyberport
companies, start-ups, and overseas guests of different high-level
conferences hosted in the campus.

The Ai Mei Midsummer Exhibition was one of the various events
organised by Le Meridien where Cyberport companies were invited on
an exhibition tour to appreciate the artworks on display and join an
eclair workshop at the restaurant as a fun activity. The hotel is also
a convenient setting for business exchanges and discussions, and a
touch point for overseas visitors. Plans are underway to showcase
some of the most innovative solutions of Cyberport start-ups at the
hotel.

To make things convenient, Le Meridien features video conferencing,
wireless broadband connectivity, and flexible working space. Guests
travelling thousands of miles to Cyberport's international events can
always stay connected to their work and businesses at home while
mingling with peers from other parts of the world at Cyberport.
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Community Engagement

Festive events

The Cyberport Arcade regularly organises activities to promote
STEM education to children and parents. In the summer of 2017, the
Arcade hosted the “Sea to Sky Summer Digital Playground”. A series
of weekly STEM-themed and sports activities were held, including
rowing championships, kids'" motor racing, handmade paddle boats,
and drone building workshops.

To promote e-Sports, the Arcade partnered with RETRO.HK and
organised a “Halloween Retro Games” event that featured exhibitions,
activities, and a "Retro Gaming Competition” with four classic games.
A pop-up store with consoles, cartridges, and accessories was set
up to showcase e-Sports development to children and for parents to
reminisce about their younger gaming days.

Support and care for the community

In addition to upgrading Cyberport’'s facilities for sustainable
development, we participate in an array of community care events.

In 2017/18, we supported Southern District Councillor Paul
Zimmerman's “Collection for Charity” event to collect clean
clothes, electrical appliances, and toys for the Salvation Army
and Les Beatitudes. The Arcade again sponsored the Cornerstone
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Association's “Medical Fundraising Walkathon & Carnival 2017:
Walk With You" to raise funds for children with cerebral palsy and
cleft lip and palate in Mainland China, provide integrated learning,
and extend rehabilitation. We sponsored the Hong Kong Society for
Rehabilitation's “Barrier Busters 2018", a new community education
and fundraising signature event that advocated for a “Barrier-Free
and Inclusive Society for All". Cyberport also supported Jessica Run
and Santa Hash 2017 to raise funds for charity, while the Cyberport
Volunteer Team participated in the “Caring Day for Elderly” and "Visit
to Home of Love Hostel and Home of Love Sheltered Workshop”.

Inspire the younger generation

To inspire the younger generation, Cyberport co-organised the
“DreamStarter Kids Pitching Day” project with the DreamStarter.hk.
Students were given two months to come up with a project to
tackle issues such as a lack of housing, elderly poverty, and dated
playground facilities, and pitched to a panel of judges on Demo Day.
The 28 projects presented were later put up for crowdfunding.

Cyberport also supported the "Hong Kong Projection Mapping
Festival” that encouraged students to explore projection mapping,
and the “IT Elite Challenge 2017" that engaged more than 300
students in a series of coding, network setup, animation production
challenges and techquizzes.
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Our Commitment

Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited (the “Company”)
is committed to maintaining and upholding high standards of
corporate governance. We believe that good corporate governance
provides the foundation for good corporate performance and
is essential to accomplishing our public missions, meeting the
expectations of our stakeholders, and attaining long-term and
sustainable growth. We have therefore adopted accountability
transparency, fairness, ethics and integrity as the cornerstones of
our corporate governance framework.

Corporate Governance Structure
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Board of Directors

The Board has the collective responsibilities for the leadership and
control of the Company within a framework of prudent and effective
controls. It governs and leads the Company in a responsible and
effective manner.

The Board sets the corporate strategies and approves the operating
plans proposed by Management. Each Board Member has a duty to
act in good faith and in the best interests of the Company.

To ensure effective discharge of duties by Board Members, the Board
assumes the responsibility of ensuring that each Board Member
has spent sufficient time to attend to the affairs of the Company. All
Board Members are kept abreast of the development of the Company
through regular Board meetings, and receipt of regular financial and
business updates.

Board Members may seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense to discharge
their duties.

The Company has also arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance to indemnify the Board Members against liabilities
arising out of the discharge of their duties and responsibilities as the
Company’s Board Members.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman of the Board, and the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ") of the Company are complementary, but
importantly, they are distinct and separate with a clear and well
established division of responsibilities, enhancing independence and
accountability.

The Chairman of the Board, who is a Non-executive Director, is
responsible for managing and leading the Board in setting the
Company's overall directions, strategies and policies, as well as
monitoring the performance of the CEO. Apart from making sure that
adequate information about the Company's business is provided to
the Board on a timely basis, the Chairman provides leadership for the
Board, and ensures views on all principal and appropriate issues are
exchanged in a timely manner, by encouraging all Board Members to
make a full and effective contribution to the discussion. Under the
Chairman’s guidance, all decisions have reflected the consensus of
the Board.

The CEO, who is appointed by the Board as a remunerated
full-time employee of the Company, is responsible to the Board for
implementing the strategy and policy as established by the Board,
and managing the business of the Company.

Corporate Governance Report

5]
EXRBEBERMAMNEZER  £E8
BHREMEZEARE  LEEBOMERNY
WAV EERREBERRT o

EXREENEEERRRBEZHEEERN
BENEESE  c EFREMBHEAEERES
EWRERR > WUARBRENZARIRR
JRBBITHE -

AEREEENEAVNEBITHT > EE/A
EERREEFAMEHERIFES AL
NENEFR - FTEEFRMBIIAESEE
REFR TR RTEHBBRMVBREBE
o TRARBZER -

BEERMEANEEBRTSRBILEE
BER UETHRE  AMEBERBAREK
¥ o

ARFEARESEHREREZEFEER
% URERERBITARDESHB B
BEM3EREREE -

FREBRATE B

KRABEFFEFEMITEAE AR A8
Pl BEEMEMENACDRE  BED TR
BRRAE  IRB Ut REEN -

EXREREAIFNTEST  aEEEKREE
EXR RAAEREHETREDD » REEKRIEK
R UREBERITBHBHMIRIE - TEMRTHE
REFRERESAERLDEZHNEHER
Sy TEBEEEEER  URBFIEESER
REHNEEREZ LNFAHRFLEEMAN
WER > BREOFAMAMEEERGENEE
BRXHER - AXFEHBRET  EX/FA
BREIRIBEESHIHBMMIEL ©

THRHBHEEREET  AEREDXHEH
AB BERTEZHPIHIET BRI KR IL
R UREERABER o

Board Composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board consists of 12
Non-executive Directors, including one Government Director.
Non-executive Directors bring an external perspective, constructively
challenge and advise on proposals on strategy, and monitor the
performance of Management. This structure effectively ensures that
the Board would comprise a majority of independent members and
is conducive to maintaining an independent and objective Board
decision making process.

All Board Members are appointed by the shareholders without
receiving any honorarium for a specific term and can be re-appointed
upon expiry of their terms of office.

The Board possesses adequate experience and expertise, to ensure
effective governance and oversight. While one of them is from the
Government, 11 of them come from various business fields, including
IT, accounting and finance, commercial, building construction,
surveying, town planning and academic. Biographical details of
the Board Members are set out in the section "Board of Directors”
in this Annual Report. The Company also maintains on its website
(www.cyberport.hk) an updated list of its Board Members identifying
their roles and functions.
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Board Composition EEF K E4HE
(as at 31 July 2018) (7220184 7831H)
Gender Category
451 Y]
Government
Non-executive
Female 2% 2 ERERITRE
Non-Government
Non-executive
Male 14 1 0 JFEAIEHMITRE 1 1
Length of Service on Board Profile
HEXATEEHNFEL AR
>4 Years i BB G t BT 1
fﬁﬁi@@ﬂf Academic %Th 2 overnmen

<1 Year

R4

1-4 Years
N —ERF 7

IT EFREE 1

—

. Surveying 12 1

Town Planning 1
I AR

Accounting/
Finance
gt &R 2

Building Construction 252 1
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Commercial Fg2E 3
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Board Diversity

We recognise the importance of ensuring an appropriate balance
of skills, knowledge, experience and gender on the Board to
our corporate governance. Our Board Members, with diverse
backgrounds, have both the breadth and depth of relevant
experience to steer and oversee the business of the Company, so
as to ensure that value is delivered in a sustainable manner and
the Company'’s interest is protected. The current mix of our Board
Members is balanced and well represented by IT professionals,
business executives, government representatives and other industry
professionals and leaders.

Board Functions

The Board directs the management of the business and affairs of
the Company. The overall management of the Company’s business
is vested in the Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business to the Executive Committee,
and focuses its attention on providing overall strategic guidance
to the Company on its business development, finance as well as
oversight over corporate performance and governance. These include
financial statements, significant changes in accounting policies,
annual budget, material contracts and arrangements, strategies
for future growth, major financing arrangements and investments,
corporate governance functions, risk management strategies and
treasury policies.

Induction for Board Members

Each newly appointed Board Member is given a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction programme. The programme consists of
meeting with the CEO and Management, briefings on the Company's
operations and major developments, and visits to the Company’s
facilities. New Board Members are able to familiarise themselves
with the Company’'s objectives, strategies, business, operations
and internal controls, as well as the general and specific duties of
directors.

Further, all Board Members are provided with a Directors’ Handbook
on their appointment, which sets out, amongst other things, directors'’
duties, code of conduct, declaration of interests and the Terms of
Reference of the Board Committees. The Directors’ Handbook is
updated from time to time to reflect developments in those areas.

Recognising that development is an ongoing process, Board Members

were invited to attend forums and conferences on information
technology in the year under review.
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Board Proceedings

Board meetings are held regularly and no less than once every
quarter. Additional Board or Committee meetings to consider specific
matters can be convened when necessary. All Board Members
have full and timely access to relevant information and may take
independent professional advice at the Company’'s expense, if
necessary, in accordance with the approved procedures.

Schedule for the regular Board and Committee meetings in each
year is usually fixed by the Company Secretary and agreed by the
Chairman, before being communicated to other Board Members
before the end of the preceding calendar year.

Meeting agenda for regular meetings are set after consultation with
the Chairman and CEO. Generally, the agenda together with relevant
papers are sent to all Board Members at least five working days
before the intended date of the Board meeting.

Board Members may attend the Board meetings in person or via
telephone conference.

At the regular Board meetings, Management reports the Company’s
business to the Board, including the Company's operations,
progress of projects, financial performance, legal issues, corporate
governance, risk management, human resources, sustainability,
corporate responsibility and outlook. Together with the discussions
at Board meetings, this ensures that Board Members have a general
understanding of the Company's business and sufficient information
to make informed decisions for the benefit of the Company.

Matters to be resolved at Board meetings are decided by a majority
of votes from the Board Members allowed to vote, although the usual
practice is that decisions reflect the consensus of the Board. The
process of the Board is reviewed from time to time to keep abreast of
regulatory changes and best corporate governance practices.

All Board Members have access to the Management of the Company
for obtaining necessary information. The Company Secretary is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures and related rules
and regulations are followed. Board Members may make enquiries to
the Company Secretary.
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Board Meetings

During the year under review, the Board held five meetings. Attendance
records of individual Board Members are set out on page 96.

Key matters considered/resolved:

2018/19 Budget Speech: Funding Allocation to Cyberport for
enhancing support for start ups, digital technology ecosystem
and e-Sports.

Smart-Space Tsuen Wan

Cyberport 2017/18-2019/20 Three-Year Strategic Plan review
Annual Budget 2018/19 and Financial Estimates 2019/20 and
2020/21

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements

Management accounts and reports

Cyberport Image Audit Report

Cyberport Brand Identity

Organisation Review

Staff remuneration, pay structure and corporate performance
assessment

Annual pay review

Performance assessment and variable pay for Management
Transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman had sessions with Board

Members without the presence of Management to discuss human
resources matters.
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Strategic Planning

The Board has continued to review the strategies of the Company to
identify and assess the opportunities and challenges the Company
may face, and to develop a planned course of action for the Company
to generate and preserve long-term value.

The direction of Cyberport Three-Year Strategic Plan 2017/18-
2019/20 was set in the Year 2016/17 so as to continue its public
mission to drive Hong Kong's digital technology development.
Progress of implementation of the key initiatives in the strategic plan
is reported to and reviewed by the Board Members.

Financial Statements

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), and
of the Group’s result and cash flows for the year. The Board has
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis, and
has adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently. Judgments and estimates have been made that are
prudent and reasonable.

In support of the above, the financial statements presented to
the Board have been reviewed by Management. Management is
responsible for finalising them with the external auditor and then the
Audit Committee.

In addition, all new and amended accounting standards and
requirements, as well as changes in accounting policies adopted by
the Group have been discussed and approved by the Audit Committee
before adoption by the Group.

Board Members acknowledge their responsibilities for ensuring that
the preparation of the annual financial statements of the Group is in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.
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Code of Conduct

The Company is a public body under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance ("POBOQ"). Accordingly, Board Members are regarded as
“public servants” for the purpose of POBO. The Company is fully
committed to the principle of honesty, integrity and fair play in the
delivery of products and services to the public.

The Board is collectively responsible for the management and
operations of the Company. Board Members, both collectively and
individually, are expected to exercise fiduciary duties and duties of
care, skill and diligence to a standard at least commensurate with
the standard established by the laws and regulations of Hong Kong.

Delegating the functions of the Board is permissible but does not
absolve Board Members from their responsibilities or from applying
the required levels if they pay attention to the Company's affairs
only at formal meetings. At @ minimum, Board Members should take
an active interest in the Company's affairs and obtain a general
understanding of the Company’s business.

Board Members should regularly attend and actively participate in
Board and Committee meetings, and prepare for them by reviewing
all materials provided by Management.

Board Members are required on their first appointment, on an
annual basis, and as and when necessary thereafter to declare any
interests that are or may be relevant and material to the business
and operations of the Company. They are also required to inform the
Company Secretary of any changes in their declared interests or any
new interests that may arise as soon as they become aware of such
interests. A Register of Directors’ Interests is kept by the Company
Secretary and is accessible by the Board Members.

Every Board Member is also required to observe his/her ongoing
disclosure obligations (including, without limitation, requirements
to notify changes in personal particulars to the Company Secretary
and/or circumstances that may affect his/her independence, and to
declare material interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract or a proposed transaction, arrangement or contract with the
Company) under the Companies Ordinance.

A Board Member cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal in which he/she has
an interest and which he/she knows is material except with the
approval of the Board/Committees. For this purpose, interests of a
person who is connected with a Board Member (including any of his/
her associates) are treated as the interests of the Board Member
himself/herself. A Board Member may not be included in the quorum
for such part of a meeting that relates to a resolution he/she is
not allowed to vote on, but he/she shall be included in the quorum
for all other parts of that meeting. This reduces potential conflicts
which might otherwise arise between the Company’s business and an
individual Board Member's other interests or appointments.
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Board Committees

The Board has five standing Committees, namely, the Executive
Committee, Audit Committee, Entrepreneurship Committee, Macro
Fund Investment Committee and Remuneration Committee, to assist
it in carrying its responsibilities.

Each of these Committees has specific written terms of
reference, which set out in detail their respective authorities and
responsibilities. The terms of reference of all Board Committees are
reviewed from time to time in the light of the Company’'s evolving
operational, business and development needs.

All Committees are accountable to the Board for their
recommendations and decisions.

The meeting processes of the Board Committees follow closely those
of the Board. The interface between the Board and Board Committees
are:

All Board Members may attend any Committee meetings as
observers

Board Members are free to access the papers of any Committee
meetings through the Company Secretary

Full minutes of Committee meetings are sent to Board Members
for information

The following sets out details of the Board Committees, their

memberships (as of 31 July 2018), principal duties and key matters
considered or resolved during the year.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee (“Excom”) is responsible for monitoring the
performance of the Company and ensuring that the Company has
been operating in consistency with the corporate missions and the
annual budget/business plan as approved by the Board.

Membership:  Seven members
Chairman: Dr Lee George LAM

Members: Mr CHEUK Wing-hing
Mr Duncan CHIU
Mr Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
Mr LAU Chun-kong
Dr Edwin LEE Kan-hing
Professor LING Kar-kan

Meetings: Excom convened five meetings during the year.
Attendance records of individual members are set
out on page 96.

Principal duties:

Exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between regular Board meetings

Serve as a sounding board for the Chairman of the Board in the
leadership and oversight of the Company’s business and affairs
Help coordinate the activities among Board Committees

Review and approve the Company’s policies

Oversee the Annual Budget

Review and approve the investment strategies of the Company
Monitor the execution of the Company's strategic plans and the
operations of all business units of the Company

Plan and allocate resources, human, financial and otherwise,
for the execution and implementation of the approved business
plans and corporate development strategies

Key matters considered/resolved:

Development of Cyberport

Annual Budget and Mid-Year Review

Monthly management accounts and reports

Company’s policies

Investment strategies and performance of the Company's
investment portfolio

Strategic cooperative agreements

Material tenders, programmes, projects and contracts
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee ("AC") is responsible for overseeing and
reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control, risk
management system, regulatory compliance, and the Company’s
internal audit function. It is responsible for overseeing the integrity
of the Group's financial statements and the application of financial
reporting principles, and the Company's relationship with the external
and internal auditors and their independence assessments.

Membership:  Six members
Chairman: Mr Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching

Members: Ms Karen CHAN Ka-yin
Mr Duncan CHIU
Mr LAU Chun-kong
Ms Rosana WONG Wai-man
Mr Davey CHUNG (government representative)

Meetings: AC convened two meetings during the year.
Attendance records of individual members are set
out on page 96.

Principal duties:

Review financial statements

Make recommendations on the appointment of external auditor,
approve its remuneration and terms of engagement, and
oversee the Company's relations with the external auditor
Review accounting policies

Oversee internal controls, financial controls, risk management
system and internal audit function

Report on matters in relation to corporate governance practices

Key matters considered/resolved:

Annual Audited Financial Statements

External Auditor’'s Report, objectivity and effectiveness of audit
process

Revised and prospective changes to accounting standards
Annual corporate governance, risk management and internal
control review

Annual internal audit programme and internal audit reports
Internal policies and procedures on investment, payment
authorisation, and whistleblowing and grievances
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Entrepreneurship Committee

The Entrepreneurship Committee (“EC") is responsible for
overseeing the administration and management of the start-up
and entrepreneurship programmes and events implemented by
the Company, such as the Cyberport Incubation Programme,
the Cyberport Creative Micro Fund ("“CCMF") and the Cyberport
Accelerator Support Programme.

Membership:  Seven members

Chairman: Professor Philip CHAN Ching-ho

Members: Dr Edwin LEE Kan-hing

Dr Gregg G. LI Ka-lok

Professor LING Kar-kan

Mr Hendrick SIN

Ms Rosana WONG Wai-man

Mr Davey CHUNG (government representative)

Meetings: EC convened four meetings during the year.

Attendance records of individual members are set
out on page 96.

Principal duties:

Oversee the administration and management of the start-up
and entrepreneurship programmes and events implemented by
the Company

Monitor and review the operational or financial plans and
proposals, administrative matters, business directions and
strategies in relation to the following three aspects:

- Sparking creative ideas through the CCMF Scheme

- Nurturing tech start-ups through the Cyberport Incubation
Programme

- Boosting tech start-ups’ fundraising capability

Approve the appointment and composition of the

Entrepreneurship Committee Advisory Group ("ECAG") which

comprises venture capitalists, business executives, tech

industry professionals, academics, and trade association

members

Approve applications for the start-up and entrepreneurship

programmes of the Company

Monitor and review the progress of the start-ups of the

programmes

Key matters considered/resolved:

Cyberport Guangdong-Hong Kong Young Entrepreneur Programme
Cyberport Accelerator Support Programme

Amendments to Guides and Notes for the Applicants-CCMF and
Cyberport Incubation Programme

Vetting of Cyberport Incubation Programme and CCMF
applications

Cyberport University Partnership Programme
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Macro Fund Investment Committee

The Macro Fund Investment Committee (“MFIC") is responsible for
overseeing the administration, management and overall performance
of the Cyberport Macro Fund ("CMF") and approval of the CMF
related investments. The CMF, with an initial size of HK$200 million,
aims to provide seed to Series A stage funding to Cyberport digital
entrepreneurs (“DE") to assist them to accelerate, and to promote the
development of the venture capital ecosystem for DE in Hong Kong.
The CMF is an investment fund which targets to co-invest with other
private and public investors in the Cyberport DE.

Membership:  Six members
Chairman: Dr Lee George LAM

Members: Mr Davey CHUNG (government representative)
Dr Edwin LEE Kan-hing
Mr Andrew KUET Shun-cheong (external member)
Mr Hendrick SIN
Ms Jeny YEUNG Mei-chun (external member)

Meetings: MFIC convened two meetings during the year.
Attendance records of individual members are set
out on page 96.

Principal duties:

Review and approve CMF related investments and exit
recommendations from Management

Oversee administration, management and overall performance
of the CMF

Monitor and advise on the operation of the CMF

Key matters considered/resolved:

CMF Implementation Framework
Investment principles for CMF
CMF applications
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (“RC") is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on organisational structure and
policies on staffing, remuneration, employment, discipline and
dismissal, with reference to the Company's overall goals and
objectives.

Membership:  Six members
Chairman: Mr Duncan CHIU

Members: Ms Karen CHAN Ka-yin
Mr CHEUK Wing-hing
Mr Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
Mr LAU Chun-kong
Dr Gregg G. LI Ka-lok

Meetings: RC convened two meetings during the year.
Attendance records of individual members are set
out on page 96.

Principal duties:

Review staffing, remuneration and employment policies and
strategies

Advise the Board on staff-related issues, including annual
corporate goals and performance measures, grading and pay
structure, variable pay and retirement schemes

Review the criteria for assessing employee performance and
make recommendations to the Board

Review the salary increase and annual performance bonus
for the senior executives and general staff, and make
recommendations to the Board

Review the performance of the CEO, COO, CFO, CPMO and CCDO
of the Company, with reference to the Board's approved Key
Performance Indicators ("KPIs") and objectives

Key matters considered/resolved:

Annual review of staff remuneration

Annual corporate performance assessment and award of
variable pay for staff

Corporate goals and performance measurements

2016/17 Performance review of the CEOQ, CO0O, CFO, CPMO,
CCDO and their variable pay

Comprehensive Review on Organisation Staffing and Pay
Structure of the Company
Staff engagement and retention
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Corporate Governance Report
Meeting Attendance & HE R
(1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018) (2017FE4B1HZE2018FE3831H)
MFIC
A
Excom AC EC KRERIE RC
Types of meetings Board 81T Bt EERE BEE N
GEEY EER %8Y %8¢ %8% %8¢ %&8%
Board Members EERME
Lee George LAM (Chairman) MRE (FFE) 5/5 5/5 - - 2/2 -
Philip CHAN BRIES 4/5 - - 3/4 - -
CHEUK Wing-hing (including Sk (SR 55 45 i ) T
attendance by alternate) BEFEZHEREH)
Duncan CHIU RIZEAR 4/5 4/5 2/2 - - 1/2
Humphrey CHOI 2R 4/5 - 2/2 - - 2/2
Rosanna CHOI® &gkmu 5/5 3/5 2/2 - - -
LAU Chun-kong FRT 5/5 -0 2/2 - - 2/2
Edwin LEE FIRE 5/5 3/5 - 2/4 2/2 -
Gregg LI TR 5/5 - - 3/39 - 2/2
LING Kar-kan ERE 5/5 - - 2/3t - -
Gabriel PANG™ el 4/5 - - 3/4 - -
Alfred WONG™ =[ERED 5/5 5/5 - 4/4 - 2/2
Rosana WONG =HEH 5/5 - _) 3/36 _ _
Jeny YEUNG™ eSOl 5/5 2/3@ 2/2 - 2/2 2/2
Average Attendance Rate (%) 94% 79% 100% 80% 100% 93%
Notes: [
(1) Mr Alfred WONG, Mr Gabriel PANG, Ms Rosanna CHOI and Ms Jeny YEUNG retired (1) EERAE > WFRAE  BEELTURIGE
as Board members, and ceased to be the respective Board Committees members EZTER2018F383HERTEE/AMERE
with effect from 31 March 2018. E o
(2)  Ms Jeny YEUNG was appointed as Excom member with effect from 23 June 2017. ) g%z@ﬁimow&eﬁ WBHEZEANTEZER
B
(3) Dr Gregg LI was appointed as EC member with effect from 5 June 2017. (3) %zgﬁ K201 7TFASHEZTATEERES
BgEE -
(4) Professor LING Kar-kan was appointed as EC member with effect from 5 June (4) }ﬁ%%}]?ﬂ“ﬁ\zm?iéﬁ ELZXALELERES
2017, and Excom member with effect from 22 June 2018. §§§§ WH2018F6 B 22 HIEEZEANTE
BEg%H8 -
(5) Ms Rosana WONG was appointed as EC member with effect from 23 June 2017,  (5) BEERLTN01TF A BHESZERCELEES
and AC member with effect from 22 June 2018. ’§§§§ 201856 F 2 OB LT AR E
BEZH°
(6) gior élg—!umphrey CHOI was appointed as Excom member with effect from 1 April (6) %’%E?‘E R2018FLA 1 BEZEANITEZES
i g%
(7)  Mr LAU Chun-kong was appointed as Excom member with effect from 22 June  (7) %ﬁ? FER2018F A2 BEZEANITEER
2018. =1
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Meeting Procedure

The Board and Committees convene meetings on a regular basis.
Special meetings will be held as and when necessary. Management
circulates papers prior to the respective meetings to provide
members adequate information in a timely manner to facilitate
their deliberation of the issues and decision-making. The respective
Board/Committee Secretaries record the major points of discussion,
recommendations, decisions and action items arising from the
meetings. Outstanding matters are followed up by the relevant
departments, and progress updates are reported at subsequent
Board/Committee meetings.

Management and Staff

Management and staff, led by the Company’s CEQ, are responsible for
managing the Company's day-to-day operations and implementing the
strategies and directions determined by the Board. The performance
of Management is reviewed with reference to the KPIs and objectives
approved by the Board. The annual emoluments of the Company's
five highest paid employees by band are disclosed under note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 150.

Guidance on the ethical behaviour of the Company has been well
defined in the Company's Employee Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics (the "Code"). From time to time, the Code will be reviewed and
fine-tuned, covering such issues as prevention of bribery, conflict of
interest, acceptance of gifts and advantages, handling of confidential
information and preservation of secrecy, intellectual property, and
outside business or employment. ICAC is invited to give briefings on
prevention of bribery and conflict of interest to the employees of the
Company on a regular basis. Staff members are also reminded of the
need for compliance with the Code from time to time.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board is responsible for internal control of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness. The Company's internal control system
comprises a set of comprehensive policies and standards.

The Company aims to maintain a high standard of corporate

governance and enhance transparency and accountability. The
external and internal audit systems are instrumental in this mission.
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External Audit

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Group’s external auditor to
conduct the audit of its financial statements. The Audit Committee
is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment, removal and remuneration of the
external auditor.

The main purpose of the external audit is to provide independent
assurance to the Board and shareholders that the annual financial
statements of the Group are fairly stated. The external auditor plays
an important independent role in expressing an opinion on the
financial statements based on their audit, and meets with the Audit
Committee to discuss the nature and scope of the audit prior to the
commencement of the work if necessary and to report on findings.
The external auditor also reports internal control recommendations
identified as part of the audit together with management responses,
if any.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, Ernst & Young provided the
non-audit services including advisory and agreed-upon procedures
with total fees of HK$148,000 (2017: Nil).

Internal Audit

The internal audit is primarily responsible for reviewing the adequacy
and effectiveness of internal control procedures and monitoring
compliance with them. The Company has outsourced its internal audit
function to an independent professional advisory firm to monitor the
Company’s internal governance and provide a basis for the Board to
assess the risk management and internal control system maintained
and operated by Management.

The Audit Committee directly oversees the work performed by the
internal auditor. Independent reviews of financial, business and
functional operations and activities have been conducted with a
focus on higher risk areas of the Company. The internal audit plan is
reviewed and agreed by the Audit Committee in advance. Each year,
the Audit Committee reviews the results of the internal audit and
evaluates the impact of the findings and the proposed management
action plans, and verifies the adequacy and effectiveness of the
mitigating controls.
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Avoidance of Conflicts of Interest

The Company has established policies and procedures to manage
actual or potential conflicts of interest of its staff. Staff working in
sensitive areas are required to adhere to job-specific rules on the
avoidance of conflicts of interest in carrying out their duties.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has a formal whistleblowing policy in place to
encourage and guide its staff to raise serious concerns internally in
a responsible manner, without any risk of retribution. The Company
also encourages other stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence,
about suspected misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any
matters related to the Company.

Transparency

The Company reports annually to the Information Technology and
Broadcasting Panel of the Legislative Council regarding the work
of Cyberport in nurturing the Information and Communications
Technology Ecosystem in Hong Kong, including its financial
performance.

To enhance transparency and openness, the Company voluntarily
discloses its compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The individual attendance records of Members at the Board and
Committee meetings is also reported on page 96.

With a view to maintain open and transparent communication with
external stakeholders, the Company continues to connect with the
community by taking advantage of multiple channels and tools. These
include the official website, monthly e-newsletters, press briefings
and interviews, and participation in a variety of local and overseas
exhibitions and conferences. Annual reports and information on
our programmes and offerings are disclosed on our website for
public access. The Company also makes use of social media such
as Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter for promotions and information
dissemination.

Delegation of Authority

The authority of the Board and the levels of authority delegated to
the Committees and Management is clearly defined and documented
in the Delegation of Authority Policy. Such delegation of authority is
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that it meets the business and
operational needs.
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Corporate Governance Practices

Although the Company is not required to comply with the CG Code,
we have applied its principles and voluntarily complied with the code
provisions therein generally except for those as set out below:

A4l

A42toAL3

Code Provisions
TFANEX

Non-executive directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election.

FATESHNZAERARTEES  LERETE
TS o

These code provisions deal with the appointment
of directors to fill a casual vacancy, appointment
of independent non-executive directors and
retirement by rotation of directors.

BETURXEMEETES UEMBERZH
SEBUFNTES > URESNHERT ©
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EXRERIEME

BERQTRALT (CEEBT) > B
PERTAR R HEET > LEHY
TP RSB —ARIRTE - MELATRRIM :

Reason for Deviation

REERE

This provision is not applicable to the Company.
Directors are appointed generally for a term
of two years or a term as specified in the
appointment letter. Directors are not subject
to re-election but may be re-appointed by the
shareholders.

BERETERNRAAT - EENEHR—RA
MEHRBZERNEETH - EFEARKE
B BrIARRENREE -

These provisions are not applicable to the
Company. Pursuant to the Company’s Articles
of Association, Directors are appointed by
shareholders.

BERENERARARE  REALQFZ (AT
Big) > EEHERRZE -

AS5.1toAS6

Ab.4

B.1.2

Code Provisions
FARNEX

These code provisions deal with the nomination
committee.

Directors must comply with obligations under
the Model Code for Securities Transactions
and the Board should establish guidelines for
relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the Company.

EENABTETRSFIZH (RETR) - M
EERTRMEREEEEARESFERE
185l e

The Remuneration Committee should make
recommendation to the Board on policy and
package for all remuneration of directors.

HINEEGEMIEES R ERFHMBUER K
FBEREERREHES -
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Reason for Deviation
fRBERE

These provisions are not applicable to the
Company since Directors are appointed by the
shareholders.

BEREFERNARF  NEFTHARRER
o

This provision is not applicable because all of
the Company's shares are beneficially owned
by the HKSAR Government and are not publicly
traded.

BEREFERNARE » AEATMERN
HHEBREBNES » TAMFAREE -

This provision is not applicable to the Company
because Board Members do not receive any
remuneration.

BEMREAERNARE  REF/RMEL R
W ERAE T # |
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TEEELRE
Code Provisions Reason for Deviation
FRIEX RBtRE
C.35 This code provision deals with the reporting  This provision is not applicable to the Company A‘l

requirement in the Corporate Governance Report
regarding different views between the Board
and the Audit Committee on external auditor.

IESFRMRSOY B ES BBt ZE R
EREMBEIRERR  EEEEARE LN

because there is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee in this respect
so far.

BERETERANEARR  RESEZRRE
FEEEZEABHEESERTRER

REER - Report of the Directors and Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements

EFRBEREEZGSMBRR

E11toE1.4 &E21 These code provisions deal with the proceedings ~ These provisions are not applicable to the
for annual general meetings. Company as the Company is wholly owned
by the HKSAR Government via The Financial
Secretary Incorporated and Resolutions in
Writing in lieu of annual general meetings is

adopted.
BETHRERRBFEFASNEFER BEREFNBRAREARE RAXAGEHE
BRERNZEAMEFEREIELZERE - 5
Sy KRBIZRREAFAERRKAZEREZR
iz % =xavid

FEREN T ERE RGN

We will continue to review and, where appropriate, enhance EMIHEEEM A ATNEEEABBET

Contents
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Report of the Directors

EZRBS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Principal activities

The principal activities of Hong Kong Cyberport Management
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Results

The Group's loss for the year and the Group's financial position at 31
March 2018 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 111 to 180.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Lee George LAM (Chairman)

Philip CHAN Ching-ho

CHEUK Wing-hing

Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching

LAU Chun-kong

Edwin LEE Kan-hing

Duncan CHIU

Gregg G. LI Ka-lok (appointed on 5 June 2017)

LING Kar-kan (appointed on 5 June 2017)

Rosana WONG Wai-man (appointed on 5 June 2017)
Karen CHAN Ka-yin (appointed on 1 April 2018)
Hendrick SIN (appointed on 1 April 2018)

Douglas SO Cheung-tak (retired on 4 June 2017)
Peter YAN King-shun (retired on 4 June 2017)
Rosanna CHOI Yi-tak (retired on 31 March 2018)
Gabriel PANG Tsz-kit (retired on 31 March 2018)
Alfred WONG Kwok-kuen (retired on 31 March 2018)
Jeny YEUNG Mei-chun (retired on 31 March 2018)
Davey CHUNG Pui-hong (alternate director to CHEUK Wing-hing,
appointed on 20 July 2018)

YEUNG Tak-bun (alternate director to CHEUK Wing-hing,
resigned on 2 July 2018)

There being no provision in the Company's Articles of Association in

connection with the retirement of directors by rotation, all existing
Directors continue in office for the following year.
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Directors (continued)

The persons who were directors of the subsidiaries of the Company
during the year and up to the date of this report (unless otherwise
stated) were:

Peter YAN King-shun
WONG Mei-wan

Herman LAM Heung-yeung*
Marvin LAI*

* Resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiaries of the Company.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company's directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Company to which the Company or any of the
Company's holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the year.

Management contracts

Save for the management agreement of Le Méridien Cyberport, the
facilities management agreement and the system operation contract,
no other contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company
and its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year.

Permitted indemnity provision

During the year and up to the date of this report, the permitted
indemnity provision as defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance for the benefit of the directors of the Company
was in force. The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for the directors’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against its directors arising out of corporate activities.
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Report of the Directors
EER%S

Auditor

Ernst & Young retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Lee George LAM
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 September 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
A RVR 2 ClE

Independent auditor’s report
To the member of Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
111 to 180, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “"Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the report of the Directors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EEIR S

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

LA Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

FeEmRHMEER @R

Year ended 31 March 2018 #;Z2018E3831HLILFEE

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

ZHENM B sHiR & M B wMRAKIE

consolidated financial statements (continued) NEE &) 2018 2017
. - . o . o em o . Notes HK$ HK$
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the W EEEANZSERIEBIHNY . = T
financial information of the entities or business activities within BENESREKREGENEZESE == AT 2T
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial Unt EEENGEVBEHRRERE
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision R -BMEARHRE - BBRIAITE REVENUE WA 478 162088 448973189
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely EEZITE - BMAEABRMNEIZE - 1104 Ul
responsible for our audit opinion. REESIET - Other net income HARAFER 39,001,532 24,710,416
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other HMEBEF/ER (HHREHE) Fst05tE 517,163,620 473,683,605
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant ~EBEIREFR > UWREBBARBHEIR > HPEHE EXPENSES BEFORE PUBLIC MISSION kit A {Ea e
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control ~ FPITEE 5T # A A ZEHI B EREAR ACTIVITIES EXPENSES AND LRI
that we identify during our audit. BB © DEPRECIATION B3
Building management expenses YIEEEL W (141,013,494) (142,966,235)
Staff costs BT 3 (91,822,886) (87,487,756)
Government rent and rates AR & =6 9 (14,142,293) (14,090,9006)
Other operating expenses HihiEE % (83,733,820) (76,727,617)
+ N Finance costs i 6 11,725 20,757
Certified Public Accountants HEBETED ol ( ) ( )
Hong Kong =5 (330,724,218)  (321,293.271)
28 September 2018 2018E9828H OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE PUBLIC Kt AR (E
MISSION ACTIVITIES EXPENSES AND EEEHE
DEPRECIATION rERESEH 186,439,402 152,390,334
Public mission activities expenses ANREmEEZ L 10 (116,541,158) (104,170,514)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE KREHFE®N
DEPRECIATION EEin 69,898,244 48,219,820
Depreciation e (133,420,807) (123,067,357)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PR AIASIE 6 (63,522,563) (74,847,537)
Income tax Frig# 11 - -
LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FABIEREZEER
LOSS FOR THE YEAR “azE (63,522,563) (74,847,537)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEMBRRE

As at 31 March 2018 /220184%3831H

2018 2017 2018 2017
Notes HK$ HK$ Notes HK$ HK$
Mt T BT BT BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IERBAE
Property, plant and equipment MZE - 12 MR 13 2,909,737,035 2,976,675,890 Development maintenance fund BREEES 21 399,088,604 402,110,194
Deferred rental receivables IEIEFENFES 12,389,679 15,738,361 Obligations under a finance lease RE R & RIE 20 - 1,577,476
Cyberport Macro Fund investments GBI BRI XESTE 14 17,960,621 6,221,450 Deferred rental payable EIEFEIHE 269,675 -
Investments in securities BEKE 15 223,214,837 430,053,583
Prepayment and deposits SEER TS 17 4,814,268 _ Total non-current liabilities IEREN R RAEER 399,358,279 403,687,670
Total non-current assets RS ELEEE 3,168,116,440  3.428,689,284 Net assets BEFE 3,241,886,135 3,302,387,108
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE EQUITY i
Inventories =75 539,809 595,761 Share capital 2N 23 2 2
Trade receivables FEL BE =R 16 8,424,696 9,199 55/ Capital reserve =N EL 5,366,157,807 5,363,136,217
Prepayments, deposits and other FENZNIE -« e R E M Accumulated losses Z5tEE (2,124,271,674) (2,060,749,111)
receivables e 17 17,177,106 19,059,547
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEWE 2 M B A B =IE 28(b) 899,937 2,348,448 Total equity RS 4EEE 3,241,886,135 3,302,387,108
Investments in securities EHERE 15 775,619,293 570,713,140
Cash and bank balances REFIETER 18 122,808,960 107,144,969
Total current assets BB ELEE 925,469,601 709,061,419
Lee George LAM Humphrey CHOI Chor-chin
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE Mﬁg?& e 5 Ak ’
5 3543
Trade payables FE(TERER 28,319,981 35,472,265 T SRR
N N Director Director
Other payables and accruals HithE B ESTER 82,950,597 60,388,352 o o
Rental and other deposits HEMEM%ES 19 85,199,995 79,426,375
Amount due to the immediate holding e B EIER AT
company EQLE] 28(b) 254,293,578 254,293,578
Obligations under a finance lease B ERE 20 1,577,476 2,095,355
Total current liabilities PN L] 452,341,627 431,675,925
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEEFE 473,127,974 277,385,494
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BB ERTRE
LIABILITIES afE 3,641,244,414 3,706,074,778

12

113



Cyberport 2017/18 Annual Report Report of the Directors and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements EERMERABREEMBRE BESE 2017/18 4

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MEEEEHR

Year ended 31 March 2018 #;ZE2018E3831HIEEE

SeRERER

Year ended 31 March 2018 #;Z2018E3831HLILFEE

Share Capital  Accumulated Total 2018 2017
capital reserve losses equity Notes HK$ HK$
[N BAREE E 4t R 4EEE b= BT B
Notes HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
izt e BT BT BT CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EEHN
ACTIVITIES WERE
At 1 April 2016 201654818 2 5313056351 (1,985901,574) 3,327,154,779 Loss before tax FRE ARG 1R (63,522,563)  (74,847,537)
= - i : o -
Loss and total comprehensive ERNEEREHEEE Adjustments for: WA -
loss for the year ok _ _ (74,847 537) (74.847,537) Depreciation TE 133,420,807 123,067,357
Tremelier fem covelasmen: EREX R A E e i Realisation of government grants AT fBh & B3R (4,592,371) (1,542,594)
maintenance fund to EERHEE Interest income from HEZEDEA
capital reserve 21 - 20,104,792 - 20,104,792 held-to-maturity investments, WEFEIWA
Transfer from facilities B A IS R net of amortisation of premium R ERRE 4 (13,523,837) (15,465,384)
el e e el A Interest income from investments ZRTBERA
capital reserve 22 - 29975074 - 29,975,074 at fair value through profit BEAYIRER
or loss BIA 4 (13,093,713) (11,705,473)
At 31 March 2017 and 72017438318 % Net realised/unrealised (gains)/ BSRET AR
at 1 April 2017 201754818 2 5,363,136,217 (2,060,749,111) 3,302,387,108 losses on investments at fair Qﬁeﬁiﬁ/wﬂiﬁiﬁ
_ - L value through profit or loss (lezs) / B51RP4ER (191,970) 3,764,570
Loss and total comprehensive ENEEREHEEE . . ST R B 91.09 )
loss for the year yazE ~ . (63522,563) (63,522,563) Interest income on bank deposits RITFAA] R (91,095) (125,570
. . E =+ :E
Transfer from development B R A e B Impairment of trade receivables F:HQEE?XDZTE B 67,173 121,493
maintenance fund to g Reversal of provision for FEW ER FUR (B i
capital reserve 21 _ 3,021,590 . 3,021,590 impairment of trade receivables [B]# 6 (121,493) (10,685)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items HEMZ. #23NERE
At 31 March 2018 12018538318 2 5,366,157,807 (2,124,271,674) 3,241,886,135 S (ISl [T I HEHEE
equipment, net (Ue#f) 958 6 511,693 (54,602)
Finance costs MBER 11,725 20,757
Revaluation (gain)/loss on RESHEBE (W),
investments E548 (6,449,111) 615,047
32,425,245 23,837,379
Decrease/(increase) in deferred IRIEFEURFR 2R
rental receivables (ghn) 3,348,682 (1,047,816)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD 7 (Em) 55,952 (145,111)
Decrease/(increase) in trade FEW AR
receivables (3%10) 829,378 (4,640,495)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FE{ITFIE « RS EMEUR
deposits and other receivables FIa (xgm) R (1,050,416) 1,907,761
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due  FEUREIZ& B A TIFIE
from fellow subsidiaries () 1,448,511 (456,063)
Decrease in trade payables FE{SBRF R (7,152,284) (10,220,955)
Increase in other payables and HME B
accruals FESTE AN 859,354 35,767,102
Increase in rental and other deposits A & EMIZEIE N 5,773,620 2,424,783
Increase in deferred rental payable IEIEFE(S RS IZ 0 269,675 -
Net cash flows from operating REFHNRER=E
activities B 36,807,717 47,426,585
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EFARERER
Year ended 31 March 2018 #;ZE2018E3831HIEEE
2018 2017
Notes HK$ HK$
g BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KEIEEH
ACTIVITIES HERE
Purchase of items of property, BAME - HEs K
plant and equipment RHBEE (43,757,824) (104,244,785)
Prepayment and deposits paid for BAME ~
the purchase of items of property, AR EREIER
plant and equipment FIRNNEANE e (4,129,260) =
Purchase of Cyberport Macro Fund B A S BR BRI
investments E2RE (11,739,171) (6,221,450)
Purchase of investments at fair value B AIRAREMBEET A
through profit or loss BEKE (210,476,279) (288,346,446)
Purchase of held-to-maturity BABEEIHEAMN
investments e (70,710,143) =
Proceeds from sale and redemption  HEEKERIEFEZZHARD
of held-to-maturity investments NEREHIE 124,312,000 87,509,285
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ H/EWY)Z - #es KR HIEE
property, plant and equipment FrigmnIg 1,500 70,000
Proceeds from sale and redemption  H & & #E[E]#%
of investments at fair value through ~ ARBESTA
profit or loss BRI EMMERIA 162,150,247 155,216,156
Interest income received from: EUFI B U
- Held-to-maturity investments —FEERIHPHKRE 16,869,864 20,604,488
- Investments at fair value through  — AR BEFT AT
profit or loss e 12,746,377 10,749,613
- Bank deposits — IRITER 93,853 130,489
Net cash flows used in investing BEEZEFRARSRE
activities 2R (24,638,836) (124,532,650)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMEEENIRE
ACTIVITIES mE
Decrease in amount due to the AN S NIE |
immediate holding company oS - (9,990)
Government grants received BB 5,602,190 1,081,740
Capital element of finance lease MERERESARER
rentals payments B (2,095,355) (2,086,323)
Interest element of finance lease HERERSNFFE
rentals payments =) (11,725) (20,757)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BA 75 E8IRR18, (FRE)
financing activities REnE B5E 3,495,110 (1,035,330)
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2018 2017
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH IR&&IRS%EIER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (#hn) R IPEE 15,663,991 (78,141,395)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYNRERITE
beginning of year %{EIEH 107,144,969 185,286,364
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F#NRESKRIRE
THE END OF YEAR =(EIER 18 122,808,960 107,144,969
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH RERFAEEEIBERLER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS VA
Cash and bank balances HERIBT47E 122,808,960 107,144,969
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e MR

Corporate information ATER Corporate information (continued) AEER @)

Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited (the SARAHBBEERBRAR ((A271) The Group has established various teams (“Operating Teams") AER L /\ﬁ@up » REBB I
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong AREBAMAINERAT > HiF to achieve the above public mission. The expenses incurred LEEK (TEEERK) - EEERKS
Kong. The registered office of the Company is located at Units ﬂﬂ#ﬂ#%&ﬁi’(ﬂiﬁﬁj /%%IE%/% 10057 4 by Operating Teams that contribute to the successful running P T £ 3% A S 458 o i BN T AR R A9 R =2
1102-1104, Level 11, Cyberport 2, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong BEAB2EE 114811 1047 © of the public mission activities are disclosed in note 10 to the RARE ISR RMIEE 109885 ©

Kong. consolidated financial statements.

The principal activity of the Company is to support and promote RABINFEEERE AT B LERY The Company is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong ANBASBEBEEERIZERERR
innovation and technology development in Hong Kong through WM AR NFESER AR ENE Kong Cyberport Development Holdings Limited, a company B (RNEBFMA I HEBRRITE

the creation of a comprehensive ecosystem of digital technology FHEBNEIF MR ERE o incorporated in Hong Kong and is wholly owned by the & (&85 &)) INEBMBAEAE

companies. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region FEEZERBANAR) NERZENS
("HKSAR") via The Financial Secretary Incorporated. NE] °

With a vision to build Cyberport as a main force in developing HIEENREREEENABBEREE

the digital technology industry as a key economic driver of ENETHE > USSR EEFE Information about subsidiaries BHEMBATSINER

Hong Kong (the "Vision"), the public mission of the Company
are anchored on three strategic directions:

= Nurtures youth and start-ups by providing comprehensive

REBNTELEERS N ((FAxR])
BRBARERH=(EARBSAEE :

— BERHEEZEEERERABKAT

TRABHNBABFRAT ¢

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Percentage of equity

entrepreneurship programmes and early stage funding; HHESHKESFRYAIRZE ; Name :Twl:;::p?):ation Iss:::r:r:;:iat?{ att;:%:t;l;fn;o :2:;?:::
—  Scales digital tech companies with Cyberport's global — HEIBENE2REKERISE & ERATE BRTRERET FARRMGEZESL TEEH
network; and (YNCI~ Direct Indirect
HiZ i
- Connects enterprises, SMEs and the public in fostering — BBixAFNELERAR
digital economy. RESFTRBER o o _
Cyberport Macro Fund Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 = Investment holding
U . . A EE v e, |y ke 58 1B REZR
nder the Group's relentless pursuit of excellence, the Group ERRBITENFER  UBEX
takes a pragmatic and comprehensive approach in realising its TENRBERES - AREIRHFA
Vision. To ensure the line-up of services is dynamic and flexible RBEENERE VaFERKAIZE CMF One Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
in meeting the needs of budding technology entrepreneurs, R -KREEERIEREITNEE & 1387T LB
investor community and industry talents, the Company actively RATBHERERLER 27
. . . oo L2 AE o7 >4
puﬂds strong p_artnersh|ps_ Wl.th leaders from_ technolggy Eﬁmiﬁ&%%ﬁaﬂ'\] BB AR N Hong Kong - i 100 Investment holding
industry, academia, research institutes and professional bodies. FERAR © N e BB
=) B7TC gl TR
To further extend the Group's entrepreneurial support to BHE—TIMARNEBHTEEVAIGB
scalable start-ups, the Company has launched the Cyberport EZBIEZR KRBIR201TF 5 CMF Three Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
Macro Fund ("CMF") for Hong Kong-based digital entrepreneurs EBAEMNBISEHEEHEES & 17T LEEg
in 2017. With an initial size of HK$200 million, the CMF aims REZEES (B BRENER
to accelerate the growth of digital technology start-ups. As an ?:N) ° %@ﬁ%iﬁjﬁ%@%%ﬁﬂ@wﬁéﬁ S Hong Kong HKS ) e
investment fund that targets to co-invest in Cyberport digital BEEA2EET > SEMNREEREY P . it

entrepreneurs with other private and public investors as seed
to Series A stage funding, the CMF also aims to encourage
the development of a venture capital ecosystem for start-ups
in Hong Kong. Further details of the investments made up to
the end of the reporting period are included in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to The Consolidated Financial Statements
L EMERRMEE

2.1 Basis of preparation 2.1 HENEE 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 RNEE @)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and available-for-sale investments which have been measured
at fair value. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2018.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Group has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Group, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to The Consolidated Financial Statements
A IERRME

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
included in Annual Entities: Clarification of
Improvements to the Scope of HKFRS 12
HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Amendments to HKAS 12, the
adoption of the above revised standards has had no significant
financial effect on these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
Disclosure of the changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities is provided in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity, when assessing
whether taxable profits will be available against which it can
utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider
whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that
deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance on how an entity should determine future
taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable
profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than
their carrying amount. The amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group as the Group
has no assets that are in the scope of the amendments.
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2.3 lIssued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS ¢

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle

W oN -

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Financial Instruments'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers'

Leases?
Insurance Contracts®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement?

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property'

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatment?

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28!

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 232

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial 2.3 EEHEEREMNE BT 2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial 2.3 BEMEBRREMNEEMRT

Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below. Of those
standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the
Group's financial year ending 31 March 2019 and are expected
to have certain impact upon adoption. Whilst management
has performed an assessment of the estimated impacts of
these standards, that assessment is based on the information
currently available to the Group. The actual impacts upon
adoption could be different to those below, depending on
additional reasonable and supportable information being made
available to the Group at the time of applying the standards.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1
April 2018. The Group will not restate comparative information
and will recognise any transition adjustments against the
opening balance of equity at 1 April 2018. During the year
ended 31 March 2018, the Group has performed an assessment
of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected
impacts relate to the classification and measurement and the
impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently
held at fair value. Equity investments currently held as
available for sale will be measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income as the investments are
intended to be held for the foreseeable future and the
Group expects to apply the option to present fair value
changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses
recorded in other comprehensive income for the equity
investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the
investments are derecognised.
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Reporting Standards (continued)

(a) Classification and measurement (continued)

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the classification and
measurement of financial assets depends on two
assessments: the financial asset's contractual cash
flow characteristics and the entity’s business model for
managing the financial asset. The Group's investments at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$494,264,083 as at
31 March 2018 are managed with a business model under
which investments at fair value through profit or loss are
not held to collect contractual cash flows. Accordingly,
the Group does not expect the adoption will have a
significant impact on the classification and measurement
of investments at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group has also assessed that the held-to-maturity
investments of HK$504,570,047 as at 31 March 2018, that
are currently measured at amortised cost, would pass the
contractual cash flow characteristics test in HKFRS ¢ and
the Group does not expect that the adoption will have a
significant impact on the classification and measurement
of held-to-maturity investments.

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are
not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss
under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected
credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or
a lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected losses that
are estimated based on the present values of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade
receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the
general approach and record twelve-month expected
credit losses that are estimated based on the possible
default events on its other receivables within the next
twelve months. The Group has determined that, due to
the unsecured nature of its trade and other receivables,
the provision for impairment may increase upon the initial
adoption of the standard.
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Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide
a more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
guantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation
of total revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The
standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective
application or a modified retrospective adoption is required
on the initial application of the standard. In June 2016, the
HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the
implementation issues on identifying performance obligations,
application guidance on principal versus agent and licences
of intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are
also intended to help ensure a more consistent application
when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard. The Group plans to
adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise
the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at 1 April 2018. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements only
to contracts that are not completed before 1 April 2018. The
Group expects that the transitional adjustment to be made
on 1 April 2018 upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be
material. However, the expected changes in accounting policies,
as further explained below, may have a material impact on the
Group's financial statements from 1 April 2018 onwards. During
the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has performed an
assessment on the impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 15
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Reporting Standards (continued)

The principal activity of the Company is to support and
promote innovation and technology development in Hong Kong
through the creation of a comprehensive ecosystem of digital
technology companies. The Group does not expect that the
adoption of HKFRS 15 will have a significant impact on the
Group's financial performance and financial position. However,
the presentation and disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15
are more detailed than those under the current HKAS 18. The
presentation requirements represent a significant change from
current practice and may significantly increase the volume
of disclosures required in the Group's financial statements.
Many of the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are new
and the Group has assessed that the impact of some of these
disclosure requirements may be significant. In particular, the
Group expects that the notes to the financial statements may be
expanded because of the disclosure of significant judgements
made on determining the transaction prices of those contracts
that include variable consideration, how the transaction prices
have been allocated to the performance obligations, and the
assumptions made to estimate the stand-alone selling price
of each performance obligation. In addition, as required by
HKFRS 15, the Group may disaggregate revenue recognised
from contracts with customers into categories that depict how
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows are affected by economic factors. It may also disclose
information about the relationship between the disclosure of
disaggregated revenue and revenue information disclosed for
each reportable segment.
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Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out
the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes
two elective recognition exemptions for lessees - leases of
low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e.,
the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a
class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will
also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term
and change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose
to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering
whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical
expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs
will be adopted. As disclosed in note 26(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, at 31 March 2018, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in aggregate of HK$120,744,841. Upon adoption of
HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the
amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be
recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating
to leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other
practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered
into before the date of adoption.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets and deferred tax assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);
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credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

130

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the period
of the lease

Building services and support facilities 10%
Information technology facilities 20%
Centres equipment 20% - 3315%
Leasehold improvements 10%
Furniture and equipment 10% - 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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(continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Financial assets and investments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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(continued)

Financial assets and investments (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains
in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses
for receivables.
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(continued)

Financial assets and investments (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to
hold them to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in profit or loss in other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or
losses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised
in profit or loss in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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(continued)

Financial assets and investments (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for
the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced
by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in
profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available
for sale are not reversed through profit or loss. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which
the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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(continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement - loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs of disposal.
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(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of each reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic

benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) rental income and contingent rentals, on a straight-line
basis over the terms of the lease and in the accounting
period in which they are earned, respectively;

(i) management fee income, when the services are rendered;
(iii) income from hotel operation, upon provision of services;
(iv) car park fee and information technology facilities income,

when the services are rendered and facilities are utilised;

(v)  income from leasing of centre facilities, when the facilities
are utilised;
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(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(vi) other incidental income and services income, when the
income is entitled and services are rendered; and

(vii) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "“MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of
its employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Foreign currency transactions

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Group’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of each reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
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Significant accounting estimates

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group performs review for impairment of non-financial
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.

The Group reviews certain indicators of potential impairment
of these assets such as reported sales and purchase prices,
market demand and general market conditions. The Group
considers “Buildings held for rental”, "Hotel building” and
“Building services and support facilities” as a portfolio of assets
and identifies the cash-generating unit to which the portfolio
of assets belongs by referring to the valuation performed by
independent external valuers, after taking into consideration
the net income allowing for reversionary potential. The
assumptions adopted in the property valuation are based on
the market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period, with reference to current market sales prices and the
appropriate capitalisation rate.

Based on the Group's best estimates, no provision for
impairment loss on the non-financial assets is necessary.

Investments in securities

The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 39 on initial
classification of non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity
if the Group has the intention and ability to hold such
investments to maturity; or at fair value through profit or loss
if the investments are managed by external fund managers
and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, and
information about the investments is provided internally on that
basis to the Group’'s key management.
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Significant accounting estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainties (continued)
Investments in securities (continued)

For held-to-maturity investments, the Group evaluates its
intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the
Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than
for specific circumstances - for example, selling an insignificant
amount close to maturity - it will be required to reclassify
the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments would,
therefore, be measured at fair value not at amortised cost.

For investments designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, the Group engages external fund managers to manage the
investment portfolio which is evaluated and reported internally
on a fair value basis. Accordingly, these investments are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss and are stated
at fair value with subsequent changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables based on the credit history or the
financial position of its customers and the current market
conditions. The Group assesses the adequacy of provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables at the end of each
reporting period and a significant level of judgement is required
in determining the adequacy of such provision.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on
the recent market transaction price and expected cash flows
discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar
terms and risk characteristics. This valuation requires the
Group to make estimates about expected future cash flows,
credit risk, volatility and discount rates, and hence they are
subject to uncertainty. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 March 2018 was HK$17,960,621. Further
details are included in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Significant accounting estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainties (continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from change or improvements in the provision of
services, or from a change in the market demand for the
service output of the asset, the expected usage of the asset,
the expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the
asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are
used in a similar way. An adjustment of depreciation is made
if the estimated useful lives and/or residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment are different from previous
estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period based on changes in
circumstances.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.
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4,

Revenue and other net income

An analysis of revenue and other net income is as follows:

4. URABREMUIAFEE
AR E IR SEZ AT -

2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue WA
Rental income RN 237,536,500 216,704,284
Building management income ES=SETUON
- Management fee income —BEEBIWA 88,893,309 85,195,492
- Car park fee income —HEEIA 14,879,229 13,506,822
- Other facilities income — Efhhml A 19,610,565 19,432,099
Income from hotel operation BIE A Z A 117,012,199 113,926,173
Information technology facilities income Bl s U A - 98,963
Other incidental income HHEIER A 230,286 109,356
478,162,088 448,973,189
Other net income Hg A F58
Interest income from held-to-maturity BFEEIHEARKREY
investments, net of amortisation of FEWA - ORERE
premium of HK$3,297,849 #543,297,84978 7T
(2017: HK$4,023,765) (20174 : 4,023,76587T) 13,523,837 15,465,384
Interest income from investments at BARBESIABRZ
fair value through profit or loss KEZF EWA 13,093,713 11,705,473
Interest income on bank deposits RITERZF B A 91,095 125,570
Services income from fellow subsidiaries B &RMEAE ZRFEIA
(Note) (BREE) 4,201,654 4,201,654
Net realised/unrealised gains/(losses) on BRAMEESIABRY
investments at fair value through profit REZBEIE KB
or loss Wi (B518) /P8 191,970 (3,764,570)
Foreign exchange differences, net SNPE ZEREFEE 7,776,270 (3,103,780)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE « HES KRB
plant and equipment BE zZ Wm 1,500 70,000
Reversal of provision for impairment of O EWEARTR Z R BB E
trade receivables 121,493 10,685
39,001,532 24,710,416
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Revenue and other net income (continued) WA B E MU AREEE (&) 6. Loss before tax IR ARS8
Hote: ek : The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ NEBZBRRATBEENG GIA)
On 24 May 2000, a portion of the Inland Lot No. 8969 at Telegraph Bay, Pokfulam F2000458240 > BB YEEHEERERA (crediting): THIEE -
(the "Residential Portion”) was assigned to Hong Kong Cyberport (Ancillary 8 (TBEEZERAR) ARRANE LB S B
Development) Limited ("HKCADL"), a fellow subsidiary, by Hong Kong Cyberport B (B R) BIRAR (THKCADLY) #t &k
Development Holdings Limited (the “immediate holding company”). Pursuant to K 8 4R 7 PO 3th ER8969SE H rh — 2B D £ 3t (MEE 2018 2017
the services agreement dated 25 October 2003 entered into between the Company B 431) o 1R #R2003F 108 25H 78 2 & BAHKCADL HK$ HKS
and HKCADL, fixed monthly services income of HK$125,600 was received from B ZRBHE ) AAAREEBDZEER
HKCADL commencing from November 2003 for the provision of services by the AR > B2003F 118 BAtE S A MHKCADLUTEX HIT ST
Company to facilitate the operation of the Residential Portion. The fee was revised 125,60078 70 2 E EARFEURA  E120065E4 5 F22008
to HK$200,000 commencing from April 2006 and to HK$261,000 commencing from F5HE > LB E 5 BB E] A& B 200,0007 7T
May 2008. The total amount received during the year was HK$3,132,000 (2017 $2261,0007%8 7T © 2&?%‘*5”&?&@@%3,132.000%%
HK$3,132,000). (20174 : 3,132,0007T) ° Rental income less outgoings of TS W AR
Pursuant to the services agreement dated 12 March 2005 entered into between 1R4#R20055E3 8 12 B 4xA 5] H[F) 7 I &8 A Bl Skillful HK$12,677,493 (2017: HK$12,626,106) 12’(?77'4937%75\(291 7
the Company and Skillful Limited, a fellow subsidiary, monthly services income LimitedZ 5T 2 BR#5 1% » R AR AT DR & 1 12,626,106787T) (224,859,007) (204,078,178)
was received for the provision of information technology and telecommunications HERR R BARRBEME A WEBRFEWA o 4 n n <
services to the Residential Portion. The total amount received during the year ?%Eu%@@ﬁ%t%%%&%ﬁ (20174 © 1,069,654 Lesit @f [nEnieres FEMA 15,190,018 15,578,728
was HK$1,069,654 (2017: HK$1,069,654). BIT) © Minimum lease payments under operating KEEE TWRERE
leases INER 14,521,294 16,427,248
= Auditor’s remuneration TZEN BN & 248,368 208,000
5. Staff costs 5. BT , , e
Impairment of trade receivables FEUSBRFR 2 BB 67,173 121,493
. . . = = Y yaN .
AN EMEEIS f Sitlf GUSs 1 €6 ollae: SLAKZAHIT - Reversal of provision for impairment of BECIFEW AR R 2 BB R B
trade receivables (121,493) (10,685)
2018 2017 Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property,  HEM « 4R REHE
HK$ HK$ plant and equipment, net BEZEE (W)
#T T R 511,693 (54,602)
Finance costs: MBER .
_ o Finance charges on obligations under MERERES
Salaries and allowances s KRG 105,256,000 95.084,816 3 finance lease B 11,725 20.757
Unutilised annual leave RKEAER 1,992,559 2,424,568
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRRERIETBIERR 4,647,766 4,453,490
Staff benefits and other staff costs ET@EMMEME TMAE 1,771,366 1,878,751 7. Directors’ remuneration 7. EEMNE
The emoluments of the Directors of the Group disclosed RIEE B QB IE B ZE38301)ME A B
113,667,691 103,841,625 pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies (WEEFMHER) REFE2MFE
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of KEBEEMEOT -
Analysed into: PIA Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
Hotel SEIE 53,451,707 53,942,073 follows:
Corporate office REMEEE 38,371,179 33,545,683
2018 2017
91,822,886 87,487,756 HK$ HK$
Operating Teams (note 10) EEER (MisE10) 21,844,805 16,353,869 BT BT
113,667,691 103,841,625 ] S
Directors’ fees EEEE - =
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2 ABYIEN - =
Discretionary bonuses FIBTEAT - =
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIE R - -
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IR eI TEIRRMIEE
8. Five highest paid employees 8. HEEm=ER 10. Public mission activities expenses 10. AREREEZE
Details of the remuneration of the five non-director highest paid hEFEETRaHEEZMEFEN All direct and indirect expenses incurred for the primary and MARER EEBNRFESHHRE
employees are as follows: TS < dominant purpose of public mission and that contribute to the M sE1 PRt B Th R A R e /A BIFA
successful running of public mission activities as described in B EREKEEZHIEHREAR
2018 il note 1 to the consolidated financial statements are considered REEEZH c BRASZHEE .
as public mission activities expenses. Such expenses comprise:
HK$ HK$
i BT 2018 2017
HK$ HK$
Salaries and allowances e KRR 11,906,676 12,185,088 BT BT
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BIRERFHEH R 183,000 180,000
12,089,676 12,365,088 Staff costs EIEZK 21,844,805 16,353,869
Information technology facilities BRI REREER
BT THES EEEEE 5 maintenance fees 26,705,130 27,854,812
The number of the non-director highest paid employee whose FITF L LRl <L BX 2 FT ) ) ) ) . e _
= . - Bl St
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: SZHBEWT Finzinelzl eesEEnes 1 Inelusin) SEr=lps EESAI IS e 217,861,777 B2
Programme expenses (seminars, trainings, MmEZH (Mg -~
competitions, workshops and exhibitions) el ~ EEE S TEDS
2018 2017 KRS 38,536,476 25,863,189
Government rent and rates A Ko 2= B 441,940 433,273
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001#75% 2,000,000 7T 3 3 Public mission communications NS 8,700,672 10,652,440
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001787522,500,0008 7T 1 - Operating expenses KETH 5,341,968 5,896,496
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 75 23,500,00078 7T - 1 Recovery of direct expenses (including WEERER T (BEK
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7% 54,000,000 7T 1 1 EETIEL EIENS of RS 5227 FISEE4.592,371 87T
(2017: HK$1,542,594)) (20174 © 1,542,594787T) (12,891,610) (6,956,222)
5 5)
116,541,158 104,170,514
9. Government rent and rates 9. AR ZEE
An analysis of government rent and rates is as follows: MR ERZDTNT -
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hotel JBIE 1,464,800 1,464,800
Corporate office NEER 12,677,493 12,626,106
14,142,293 14,090,906
Operating Teams (note 10) EEEK (fsE10) 441,940 433,273
14,584,233 14,524,179
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11.

Income tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2017: Nil).

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to the loss before
tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax amount at the

11.

FriS#i

AR AERRAEETENEBELME
IERIRNERN > AL ERBBHER
e e (20174 © #®) o

BRARBEBEERESHEZERA
BERzZMNERRREAERBERREK

Group's effective tax rate is as follows: STEREHRWT ¢

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Loss before tax SRR EIEE (63,522,563) (74,847,537)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate 12& B A ERE16.5%

of 16.5% STEZRER R (10,481,222) (12,349,844)

Income not subject to tax BIERR 2 WA (15,031) (20,719)

Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 FEsZ 864,247 -

Tax losses not recognised REESR 7 IR TEES1E 9,632,006 12,370,563

Tax amount at the Group's effective tax rate
Z Mg
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12. Deferred tax 12. IRIEMRIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as FIERIEEEREG B ST !
follows:
Losses  Depreciation
available in excess
for offsetting of related
against future  depreciation
taxable profits allowance Others Total
AR TEBHAER
RIRFERRIR  EREZ
A2 B518 £%8 H1th a3
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2016 R20165F481H (79.321,296) 79,446,534 (125,238) =
Deferred tax (credited)/ FERPIEE GtA)
charged to profit or 0Bk Z IEIEFRIE
loss during the year (22,152,767) 22,162,629 (9.862) -
At 31 March 2017 and 201738318 &
1 April 2017 201748 1H (101,474,063) 101,609,163 (135,100) -
Deferred tax (credited)/ FERPEE GtA)
charged to profit or NB& Z IEIEFRIE
loss during the year (13,326,630) 13,324,068 2,562 -
At 31 March 2018 H2018%E3H31H (114,800,693) 114,933,231 (132,538) -

Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary
differences arising from tax losses carried forward due to
uncertainty of realisation of the related tax benefit through
the future taxable profits. As at 31 March 2018, the Group had
unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$2,156,000,000
(2017: approximately HK$2,097,000,000). The tax losses have
no expiry date and are yet to be agreed by the Inland Revenue
Department.
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O

q 4 =
13. Property, plant and equipment 13. ¥ - B R 13.
Building
Buildings services Information
held for Hotel  and support technology Centres Leasehold Furniture and Motor
rental building facilities facilities equipment improvements equipment vehicles Total
EFRTS
eI BERT  BXERN EARHKRE RibE  EEYHRR  RERERE R AE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
EIT BT BT ET BT BT ET BT BT
(note (iii))
(HIEE (i)
31 March 2018 201843H31H
At 31 March 2017 #220174E3831 8
and 1 April 2017: 201754818 -
Cost [p%:N 3,557,123,776 274,937,912 1,197,781,244 256,354,290 60,886,254 116,880,436 171,780,908 1,338,151 5,637,082,971
Accumulated REtiTeEs
depreciation (1,000,851,391) (77,419,342) (1,148,426,937) (232,303,794)  (60,886,254) (35,218,599) (104,554,280) (746,484) (2,660,407,081)
Net carrying amount BRIE 3 {& 2,556,272,385 197,518,570 49,354,307 24,050,496 - 81,661,837 67,226,628 591,667 2,976,675,890
At 1 April 2017, 1201748118
net of R REHTE
accumulated
depreciation 2,556,272,385 197,518,570 49,354,307 24,050,496 - 81,661,837 67,226,628 591,667 2,976,675,890
Additions B - - 26,905,214 3,021,590 - 29,613,030 7,455,311 - 66,995,145
Depreciation FREHRITE
provided during
the year (77,142,965)  (5,955,334) (7,120,021)  (8,079,907) - (13,190,157)  (21,790,423) (142,000) (133,420,807)
Disposal HE - - - - - (318,000) (195,193) - (513,193)
At 31 March 2018, 722018434311 »
net of RREHTE
accumulated
depreciation 2,479,129,420 191,563,236 69,139,500 18,992,179 - 97,766,710 52,696,323 449,667 2,909,737,035
At 31 March 2018:  #220185:3H31H :
Cost [3%:S 3,557,123,776 274,937,912 1,224,686,458 250,607,665 60,886,254 146,135,293 178,051,926 1,338,151 5,693,767,435
Accumulated REHTE
depreciation (1,077,994,356) (83,374,676) (1,155,546,958) (231,615,486)  (60,886,254) (48,368,583) (125,355,603) (888,484) (2,784,030,400)
Net carrying amount R &3 {E 2,479,129,420 191,563,236 69,139,500 18,992,179 - 97,766,710 52,696,323 449,667 2,909,737,035
31 March 2017 2017%3A31H
At 1 April 2016: 20164818 -
Cost BE:N 3557,123,776 274,937,912 1,173,977,271 236,249,498 60,886,254 80,518,905 156,834,546 1,018,019 5541,546,181
Accumulated REHTE
depreciation (923,708,426)  (71,464,008) (1,151,441,535) (226,641,810)  (60,886,254)  (27,067,964)  (83,826,319) (996,005) (2,546,032,321)
Net carrying amount BRE/F{E 2,633,415,350 203,473,904 22,535,736 9,607,688 = 53,450,941 73,008,227 22,014 2,995,513,860
At1 April2016,  [R2016F4A1H -
net of IR REHTE
accumulated
depreciation 2,633,415,350 203,473,904 22,535,736 9,607,688 = 53,450,941 73,008,227 22,014 2,995513,860
Additions hE = = 30,306,850 20,104,792 = 36,361,531 16,761,612 710,000 104,244,785
Depreciation FNEHRITE
provided during
the year (77,142,965) (5,955,334) (3.488,279) (5,661,984) - (8,150,635)  (22,527.813) (140,347)  (123,067,357)
Disposal HE = = = = = = (15,398) = (15,398)
At 31 March 2017, §220174E3831H »
net of IFRREHTE
accumulated
depreciation 2,556,272,385 197,518,570 49,354,307 24,050,496 = 81,661,837 67,226,628 591,667 2,976,675,890
At 31 March 2017 722017438318 :
Cost [5%:S 3557,123,776 274,937,912 1,197,781,244 256,354,290 60,886,254 116,880,436 171,780,908 1,338,151  5,637,082,971
Accumulated REHiE
depreciation (1,000,851,391)  (77.419,342) (1,148,426,937) (232,303,794) (60,886,254) (35,218,599)  (104,554,280) (746,484) (2,660,407,081)
Net carrying amount R &3 {E 2,556,272,385 197,518,570 49,354,307 24,050,496 = 81,661,837 67,226,628 591,667 2,976,675,890
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

On 22 May 2000, the Government of the HKSAR granted the Inland Lot No.
8969 at Telegraph Bay, Pokfulam to the immediate holding company for a
term of 50 years at a lump sum initial premium of HK$1,000 and an annual
rent of an amount equal to 3% of the rateable value of the said Lot from
time to time.

On 24 May 2000, the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement with
the immediate holding company whereby a portion of the Inland Lot No.
8969 at Telegraph Bay, Pokfulam (the “Cyberport Portion") is sub-leased to
the Company from the immediate holding company at nil rental.

The buildings are situated on the leasehold land granted.

Centres equipment represents equipment of Entrepreneurship Centre and
Technology Centre funded by government grant and used for the purpose
of the designated projects.

As at 31 March 2018, the fair value of the buildings held for rental
(together with the associated building services and support facilities)
amounted to HK$6,761 million (2017: HK$6,602 million). The aggregate
carrying value of such assets amounted to HK$2,548 million (2017:
HK$2,606 million). The fair value of the buildings held for rental (together
with the associated buildings services and support facilities) as at 31
March 2018 was determined based on a valuation carried out by Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent professional valuer.

The fair value of the buildings held for rental (together with the associated
building services and support facilities) falls within Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy and is determined using the income capitalisation
approach by discounting the expected rental income using a capitalisation
rate adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of furniture and
equipment held under a finance lease of the Group was HK$2.3 million
(2017: HK$4.2 million).
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14. Cyberport Macro Fund Investments 14, BBBAREFEEETKRE
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Unlisted equity investments, JELEMRAKE
at fair value BARERE 17,960,621 6,221,450
To further extend the Group's entrepreneurial support to BE—FTNIAEXEEBHTRBENAEIT
scalable start-ups, the Group has launched the CMF for Hong (ZRESF S AEER017TFAS
Kong-based digital entrepreneurs in 2017. With an initial size BEHISAERMB IS BEREREE
of HK$200 million, the CMF aims to accelerate the growth of o HIEEBREBRAEERYTBRESR
digital technology start-ups. As an investment fund that targets #Z2EA T EEMNREESEZAAIB
to co-invest in Cyberport digital entrepreneurs with other XBR-FASTHAEMMARRLE
private and public investors as seed to Series A stage funding, KREECERENREIEBEISREENA
the CMF also aims to encourage the development of a venture WISERMERET > BISEBRERXE
capital ecosystem for start-ups in Hong Kong. FTEARSEBEENTAEEERER
BIREEREIRIE ©
During the year, there was no gross fair value change in respect FR AERTFEMEE K ERPE
of the Group's available-for-sale investments recognised in Rz HHEEREZ AN BERLREIL
other comprehensive income. AT o
The above investments consist of investments in equity TR EREEEAHHESHE
securities which were designated as available-for-sale financial ERBTEETEIHEANETFIENR
assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. KFBHEE o
15. Investments in Securities 15. BHKE
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current assets JEREEE
Held-to-maturity investments FEEEIHEAKE 223,214,837 430,053,583
Current assets MENEE
Held-to-maturity investments FEEEIHARE 281,355,210 124,966,240
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss BARBESIABRZKE 494,264,083 445,746,900
775,619,293 570,713,140
Total &&t 998,834,130 1,000,766,723
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15.

Investments in Securities (continued)

15. FEBHFKRE @)

(@) Held-to-maturity investments (a) FHEEIHERKE
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed fixed interest debt SR LHECH EEHES
securities in Hong Kong 481,089,894 531,872,373
Unlisted debt securities JEEERE 23,480,153 23,147,450
Net book amount IRERE 504,570,047 555,019,823
The net book amount is analysed  BRELSEEDTIT :
as follows:
Maturing over one year R—FL EFHA 223,214,837 430,053,583
Maturing within one year R—ERE|HE 281,355,210 124,966,240
504,570,047 555,019,823
Market value of listed debt THEHRESFZHE
securities 479,131,186 533,590,319
Market value of unlisted but E LT EERERRSES
quoted debt securities ZHE 23,419,146 23,257,827
502,550,332 556,848,146
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss (b) BMAABEFABGZZRE
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed fixed interest debt securities: _tiHETEF EEFHFES .
- In Hong Kong — HBIER 171,650,370 119,141,970
- Outside Hong Kong — HBIEIN 228,826,985 240,902,589
Unlisted but quoted fixed interest  JEEF{BAMEBETEF 2
debt securities B 5 93,786,728 85,702,341
494,264,083 445,746,900
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SEMBRRMEE
16. Trade receivables 16. FEURBRFR 16. Trade receivables (continued) 16. FEURERTR (@)
2018 ST Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a RERATERE BWHRIERE LSBT
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent B EBARR BIUZTE AR -
HK$ HK$ history of default.
BT BIT
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to EHRERREZ B FIEEE T EA
a number of independent customers that have a good track EEHRBREITEACBRZBLTRAE
Trade receivables FEUSARRR 9,240,005 10,069,383 record with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors o REATKR  EERABEM
Impairment EE (815,509) (869,829) are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary ZER/RIERERE ERREER
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant R BmMEAEE B FRERDERA
8,424,496 9.199.554 change in credit quality and the balances are still considered A2 EURE] o

The credit period given to customers is generally 0 to 30 days.

MTERZIEEHR—MRBOEINXR ° &

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding S B EEEERERINE 2 EUR 17. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17. FERRIE - BE R EMEIE
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are BUFEEERREERE o BIHE R I8
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not HEREEETCHHER - AEE W E
hold any collateral or other credit enhancement over its trade MEEWRRGHRFEEAIERRTE 2018 2017
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. T EMEERFE - BIIRTUS HK$ HKS
TE o _ .
BT BT
The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables FEWERFUR BB H T ¢
foll :
are as follows Prepayments AR 4,736,709 4,466,568
Prepayment and deposits paid for the TLEBAYE - HaEK
2018 2017 purchase of items of property, plant REEESZNZ
HK$ HK$ and equipment SENESEY S8 s 4,129,260 -
BT BT Deposits paid for premises leasing MYEREZ G 2T 685,008 -
Other deposits Higs 1,600,585 4,506,960
) 5
At beginning of year =] 869,829 759,021 Other receivables HnpEWEa 10,839,812 10,086,019
Impairment losses recognised (note 6)  HEERIRERE (FMisEs) 67,173 121,493
_ PR T 21,991,374 19,059,547
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) BEIRERE (Fiste) (121,493) (10,685)
Analysed into: A
815,509 869,829 v ﬁj;rﬁj%
Non-current portion JERBIE D 4,814,268 -
8 . . . L © t ti SRENER D 17,177,106 19,059,547
An aging analysis of the trade receivables that are not A {8 B X FE AR AR M RLE 2 FEUR BR =X SIS O BEE)
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as ZERER AT -
follows: 21,991,374 19,059,547

2018 2017 None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. B ESERRINEENE  stA L
HKS HKS Financial assets included in the above balances relate to Mgy eMEERTITAEENT
o T receivables for which there was no recent history of default. P2 FEWGEIEA R o
BT BT
Neither past due nor impaired RIBHB TR R (B 6,683,314 4,101,963
Less than one month past due BER/ DFE B 783,729 4,672,445
One to three months past due HEN E3EH 686,521 416,575
Over three months past due BHEA3E R L E 270,932 8,571
8,424,496 9,199,554
158 159
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FEIBIRRMIEE
18. Cash and bank balances 18. RERIRITLHTE 20. Obligations under a finance lease 20. MEHERE
2018 07 The Group leases certain of its information technology facilities. AEBEBEEETEAR RN - %H
The lease is classified as a finance lease and has a remaining BWnEAMERSE R THEEEA0.75
HK$ HK$ lease term of 0.75 years. Fo
BT BT
At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease payments [R20185F3H31H > MEMAEET X
under finance lease and their values were as follows: REEENTEEREEAOT !
Cash and bank balances RERIBTLER 122,808,960 84,678,485
. . =] Eond -
Time deposits TEIFR 22,466,484 Present Present
value of value of
122,808,960 107,144,969 Minimum Minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITIRESRBES HRITERN LY payments mELVIIEQEN Payments JgEC el
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods A EEEF B c EHERRTELRE RIEHE R®ERE RIEHEE RERAE
of between one and three months depending on the immediate B ENEREEBRME » FRREABN NEN (NEN AFIRE RIRE
cash requirements of the Group, and earns interest at the FT—E2=EATE > LUZEBZEH 2018 2017 2018 2017
respective time deposit rates. The bank balances and time R F) R BEF B o RI1T45 77 K & HA HK$ HKS HK$ HKS
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent EREANLBIRENCSRBEER — e _ o
history of default. T2 R1T © AT BT AT AT
. +5 o
19. Rental and other deposits 19. HERHEMES Amount payable: FEAIROR -
N » Within one year —FR 1,580,310 2,107,080 1,577,476 2,095,355
Included in rental deposits are amounts of HK$48,735,090 (2017: HeksaEERfrfgERr—SRE Y o
HK$49,076,395) which are not expected to be settled within one 4 2 #X T848,735,0907 st (20174 : UGS . - (IS - IS
year. 49,076,395 7T) ©
Total minimum finance lease REMSHES
payments INE ke 1,580,310 3,687,390 1,577,476 3,672,831
Future finance charges R EE (2,834) (14,559)
Total net finance lease HRETHERE
payable RIS E 1,577,476 3,672,831
Portion classified as current WoEA R
liabilities BEZED (1,577,476)  (2,095,355)
Non-current portion IERIMEL D - 1,577,476
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SEMBRRMEE
21. Development Maintenance Fund

22.

It represents a fund received by the Group in accordance
with the terms of a project agreement entered into among
the Company, the immediate holding company, HKCADL,
Pacific Century Cyberworks Limited (now renamed as PCCW
Limited) and Cyber-Port Limited on 17 May 2000 (the “Project
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Project Agreement, the purpose
of the fund is for upkeep and maintenance of the common
telecommunications, media and information technology facilities
available to the tenants and visitors (the “Shared Cyberport
facilities”).

Upon acquisition of relevant assets for replacements, the costs
of the acquired assets will be transferred from the Development
Maintenance Fund (the “DMF") account to the Capital Reserve
account in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

During the year, the Shared Cyberport facilities of HK$3,021,590
(2017: HK$20,104,792) were acquired and funded by the DMF.
Accordingly, this amount has been transferred from the DMF to
Capital Reserve account.

Facilities Maintenance Fund

On 5 September 2006, the Company, HKCADL, and the
immediate holding company entered into a third agreement
to amend the Project Agreement of the Cyberport Project
with PCCW Limited and Cyber-Port Limited. Pursuant to the
third agreement, a maintenance fund of HK$50,000,000 for the
purpose of maintenance and upgrading the Cyberport Portion
was received by the Group (the “Facilities Maintenance Fund”,
“FMF").

Upon acquisition of the assets, the cost of the replaced assets
will be transferred from the FMF account to the Capital Reserve
account in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, building services and
support facilities of HK$29,975,074 were funded by the FMF.
Accordingly, this amount has been transferred from the FMF to
Capital Reserve account.
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|
23. Share Capital 23. &7
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
2 ordinary shares 20% i hs 2 2
On 28 February 2018, the HKSAR Government has announced EF B & BT 2018528281 % &
a funding injection of HK$300 million to Cyberport for the 192018/ 19FE E(M B FBER) T E
new initiatives in respect of strengthening the support to its EEE BT EIR BT > UBHEIEAHE
tenants/incubatees, and promote the development of e-Sports TR EREMPRIBEE QB ZME
in Hong Kong, as covered in the Financial Secretary’s 2018/19 i LEEEFHENEE -
Budget Speech.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the funding REPERE  BESEAUREER
was first injected as equity from the Capital Investment Fund HENEAKEES I ABRERA
of the Government to the immediate holding company. On 12 B] ° 2018598 12H » AR EIEEZE
September 2018, 300,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company A% A B 8% 97 i B 2£300,000,0008% & &
of HK$1 each were issued and allotted to the immediate holding HEITTETHEBE  (FAREKAR
company in consideration of the injection of an aggregate sum FEAMBEIRBITTAVAERE ©
of HK$300 million into the Company.
24. Reserves 24, (#fH&
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements FEBRAFERBEFEZHES
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the EREEH 2T NS R EER
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
25. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 25. #&F&IREMERMEE
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities MEEBFTELE S EEE
Government

grants included

Amount due to

in other  the immediate Obligations
payables holding under a
and accruals company finance lease

ST AEAM

FEATRRIA

K EstRIE e B
HEmehE #ERASRIE MBEEERE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 April 2017 520179481 H - 254,293,578 3,672,831
Changes from financing

cash flows SRS R EEE) 320,035 = (2,095,355)
At 31 March 2018 7£20185%3H31H 320,035 254,293,578 1,577,476
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26. Operating lease arrangements

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases certain buildings (note 13) under
operating lease arrangements. The leases are negotiated
for terms ranging from one to six years. The terms of the
leases also require the tenants to pay a security deposit.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants falling due as follows:

26.

(a)

HEZH
fERHAA

NEERBKESHEZHHES
TFiEF MsE13) c ZEHEFR
BEEZHEBANTFIEEFE RS
AEERINEKRBE LT RER
%o

2018538310 » ~E B R
HBMAEET 2 A= i
BRI REEWE ST HAEEE
EIERE R

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within one year —FR 167,350,753 159,709,588
In the second to fifth years, FE_FEFEFAF

inclusive (BEEEMmE) 183,963,464 145,113,600

351,314,217 304,823,188

As lessee (b) 1EAEFEA

The Group leases its information technology facilities
and office premise under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for these facilities and property are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to six years.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

AEERBCEREZHEESR
AR RN R FIE ZEHE
FREEE 2 ZERIM R EN F1
FEFAT o

201853 H31H » A~ & E 1R #&
AR ERERNRRRERE
W BT ARZERHRIB RN T ¢

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within one year —FR 22,329,605 14,521,294
In the second to fifth years, F_FEEFAHF

inclusive (BIEEREMF) 97,184,111 10,783,651

After five years AFE 1,231,125 =

120,744,841 25,304,945
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27. Commitments

In addition to the operating lease commitments details in note
26 above, the Group had the following capital commitments at

27. KIE

BR b SCBY 5E265% it < 42 & 10 B K iE

Sh > AEBRBERRZEREEN

the end of the reporting period. T <
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted, but not provided for E5T4Y > (BAREHE 22,454,551 29,075,604
28. Related party transactions 28. FAMARS

(a)

The Company is wholly owned by the Government of
the HKSAR via The Financial Secretary Incorporated.
In accordance with revised HKAS 24 Related Party
Disclosures issued by the HKICPA, government-related
entities and their subsidiaries, directly or indirectly
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the Government of the HKSAR are defined as related
parties of the Group. On that basis, related parties include
the immediate holding company and its subsidiaries
(other than the Company), other government-related
entities and their subsidiaries, other entities and
corporations in which the Group is able to control or
exercise significant influence and key management
personnel of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, approximately 3%
(2017: 3%) of the Group's revenue was rental income,
building management income and other facilities income
derived from the Government of the HKSAR and other
government-related entities. All these services are
conducted in the normal course of business and in
accordance with the Group's pricing policy.

The balances with the immediate holding company and
fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

No compensation was paid to the key management

personnel of the Group in respect of their services
rendered to the Group during the year (2017: Nil).
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29. Financial instruments by category 29. #EEERHEISMERMTA 29. Financial instruments by category (continued) 29. HEEEHEISNERMTAE (@
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZEEMIAERREHERZKREE 31 March 2017 201743H31H
instruments at the end of the reporting period are as follows: LI Financial assets LREE
31 March 2018 2018%3H31H Financial
- assets at fair
Financial assets ﬁmﬂﬁ& value through Available- Held-to-
. . profit or loss - for-sale maturity Loans and
Fmanue-)l held for trading investment investments receivables Total
assets at fair N N
value through Available- Held-to- %gﬁ%@ii . o,
profit or loss - for-sale maturity Loans and %Eﬁﬁ&hfﬁég %Eia% . é\‘;}:& N
held for trading investments investments receivables Total ZEHMEE HERHA HMBKRA FEUARIR st
BARBEA HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BEEFEEE FHEEAH B BTT BT ABIT BT BT
ZEMEE HERE HARE FEUSFRIE #ast
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ -
i I FIEFE U 7R 2 - - - 738, 738,
s s e . s Deferred rental receivables IEEFEWFES 15,738,361 15,738,361
Available-for-sale investment HEHERE - 6,221,450 - - 6,221,450
Investments in securities BHKRE 445,746,900 - 555,019,823 - 1,000,766,723
Deferred rental receivables }Eﬁﬁ%u&%ﬁ% - - - 12,389,679 12,389,679 Trade receivables EELI&EE%X _ _ _ 9199554 9.“99,554
Available-for-sale investments ~ BIfftHHERE - 17,960,621 - - 17,960,621 Financial assets included in STATENIIE ~ e
Investments in securities BELE 494,264,083 - 504,570,047 - 998,834,130 prepayments, deposits K H A FEU R IE
Trade receivables e BE R R _ - 8,424,496 8,424,496 and other receivables ZEREE = = = 14,592,979 14,592,979
Financial assets included in STATENRIE  Be K Amounts due .fr(.Jm. W%iﬁllﬁ%ﬂﬁ}%’/}ﬁ
prepayments, deposits H eI fellow subsidiaries IE = = = 2,348,448 2,348,448
and other receivables ZERMEE - - - 13,759,686 13,759,686 Cash and bank balances RERIBITLEE = = = 107,144,969 107,144,969
Amounts due from N =N
fellow subsidiaries ;A - - - 899,937 899,937 445,746,900 6,221,450 555,019,823 149,024,311 1,156,012,484
Cash and bank balances e LBTER - - - 122,808,960 122,808,960
Financial liabilities EHaGE
494,264,083 17,960,621 504,570,047 158,282,758 1,175,077,509
Financial
Financial liabilities ERAaGE liabilities at
amortised cost
Financial liabilities RSN AR A
at amortised cost BIE > S REE
SRR > SRLE & -
HK$ BTG
BT
Trade payables FEITERR 35,472,265
. L : St H .
Trade payables R B 28.319.981 Financial liabilities included in other payables .:U\:Jﬂ%ﬁfﬁf,@& .
. o . N . and accruals EstERZEMERE 55,429,833
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAEMPESIER . T i
and accruals FEE > SR 72,782,330 Rental and other deposits e RHMES 79,426,375
Rental and other deposits s REMzS 85,199,995 Amount due to the immediate holding company FEN BB AT FIE 254,293,578
Amount due to the immediate holding company FE IR A BB 254,293,578 Obligations under a finance lease RO BB AR 3,672,831
Obligations under a finance lease MERERE 1,577,476
Deferred rental payable IRIEFE(TR S 269,675 428,294,882
442,443,035
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30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

30.

FRMIRAZARBERIAE
EF4R
FEESMTIAZREERALEE
REERAABEABEENSMT
AN WM

Carrying amounts Fair values
fREfE AREE
2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets ERIEE
Available-for-sale investments Ot HERE 17,960,621 6,221,450 17,960,621 6,221,450
Investments in securities ESRE 998,834,130 1,000,766,723 996,814,415 1,002,595,046
1,016,794,751 1,006,988,173  1,014,775,036 1,008,816,496
Financial liabilities ERAG
Finance lease payable MERERMNEA 1,577,476 3,672,831 1,577,476 3,672,831

The Group has assessed that the fair values of deferred rental
receivables, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, balances with fellow subsidiaries and the immediate
holding company, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, rental and other deposits, and
a deferred rental payable approximate to its carrying amount
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liability
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following method
and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:
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30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments (continued)

The fair value of an unlisted available-for-sale equity
investment as at 31 March 2018 has been estimated using a
discounted cash flow valuation model based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.
The valuation requires the Directors to make estimates
about the expected future cash flows including expected
future dividends and proceeds on subsequent disposal of the
investment. The Directors believe that the estimated fair value
resulting from the valuation technique, which is recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related changes in fair value, which are recorded in other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the
most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period. The
fair values of the remaining unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments as at 31 March 2018 have been estimated using
the recent market transaction price.

The fair value of an unlisted available-for-sale equity
investment as at 31 March 2017 has been estimated using the
recent market transaction price.

The fair value of a finance lease payable has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’'s own
non-performance risk for finance lease payable as at 31 March
2018 was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of listed debt investments are based on quoted
market prices.

169

30.

ETMIAZAREBERIAE

BEF& @

FR2018F3A3IHM AR —IEIE L™
AMHERAZRENAAEBETLIRE
FIHRBESREGERRE > BELIER
AEHERHEREXEIRFNERETH
it o EEAMABEEM EIAK
Benhe SEBEHAKRKKRERER
HELRENFEBREB - EERA 1
ERFRAGERMEENEST AR
BE GIAGHPEBRER) X228
BEMNERES Gt AHMES W)
HESE TEARABEMNEE R
20185E3H31H » HhIE Ema e
BRABREZ AABERBEIETIZA
TEELfEET o

72017F3831H » IFEmEHEER
EREZAABERBILHEHSRR
BIEL s o

MEHERCTREZ A AAEBEESS
RGBT EERBKRGTEHES
MT AR B EITIREEEARE
BEMRBTESH - 1201853831
B> AEENHEHERCIHRENS
BABITREEWTE AT ERM o

FHEERE AABERTIERE
SEE -



Cyberport 2017/18 Annual Report

Report of the Directors and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to The Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBRRMEE
30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2018:

EMITAEZAREBERLARE
BEE4 @)

M RAR2018E383 1 HE &M T AL
BZERTABREBASIERMEER
EE2BRHE DT

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair
technique unobservable input Amount value to the input
f&fE EX ARBEHEA
i FABRHARE i HEZHRE
As at 31 March 2018
1R2018%3H31H
Unlisted available-for-sale Discounted Long term growth rate 2.5% 1% increase/decrease in growth rate
equity investment cash flow for cash flows would result in increase/ decrease in
method fair value by HK$549,000/HK$471,000
FErmatHERTRE nREE RERERMLRE WEEEM B R ER A BEE
e ./ B549,00078 7T,/ 471,000 7T
Weighted average cost 14.25% 1% increase/decrease in WACC would
of capital (WACC) result in decrease/increase in fair value
by HK$942,000/HK$1,177,000
IIREFSIE AR RLA(WACC) IREFSIEARRRAIE N /1% 3K
BARBERD /1EIN942,0007%
70,/ 1,177,0008 7T
Discount for lack of 30% 1% increase/decrease in discount would
control result in decrease/increase in fair value
by HK$79,000/HK$78,000
Rz T E RS BN RELABER
b/ #81079,000%87T /78,0003 7T
Discount for lack of 30% 1% increase/decrease in discount would

marketability

RZ TR

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amount
of discounts determined by the Group that market participants
would take into account when pricing the investment.
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result in decrease/increase in fair value
by HK$79,000/HK$78,000
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30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial 30. EMTAZARBEKRARE

instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2018

BEEXER (@)
AREEFR

STEER

TRETAERSHIAENAAEE

BRAARBENENEE !

20183831

=]

Fair value measurement using

AREBERAUTEIENE

Quoted prices Significant Sign

ificant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
prfits EARTHE EAFUHER
HiZRE BAEE AR
(B—#R) (B=4R) (B=4R) 4t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Available-for-sale
investments o HEF - 11,739,171 6,221,450 17,960,621
Investments in
securities BERE 400,477,355 93,786,728 - 494,264,083
400,477,355 105,525,899 6,221,450 512,224,704
171
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30. Fair value and fair
instruments (continued)

value hierarchy of financial

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 March 2017

EEQIEZ’AMM%E&’LMME

{E-\-.r m& nﬁ

RAREEFENEE : (

720174E3831H

&)

Fair value measurement using

ARBERAUTRIENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
hIE BEAUHRR EAFTEHEE
mSRE EIPNE 6 A BUE
(F—4%) (BZ#R) (B=%) #act
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BIT BT BTt BIT
Available-for-sale
investment AHHERE - 6,221,450 - 6,221,450
Investments in
securities EERE 360,044,559 85,702,341 - 445,746,900
360,044,559 91,923,791 - 451,968,350

During the year, there

were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 for financial assets

(2017: Nil). The movement
Level 3 are as follows:

s in fair value measurements within

FRREREEMS > F—RES

"z BETEEERAEESE (2017

FE)  FMANLAEBEFEL

E2) (I

2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Available-for-sale investments - unlisted: ﬂ{#ﬂj’%?ﬁﬁ—#tﬁi :
At 1 April =N - -
Transfer from Level 2 during the year EEWEEIM:H i 6,221,450 =
At 31 March 38318 6,221,450 -
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30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial
instruments (continued)

31.

Liabilities measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2018

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2018.

As at 31 March 2017

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2017

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1

and Level 2 and no transfers

into or out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (2017: Nil).

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's principal financial instruments comprises
investments in securities, available-for-sale investments
and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to finance for the Group's
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are credit risk, equity price risk, liquidity
risk and currency risk. The Board reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below

Credit risk

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group'’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Details in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements. The credit risk
of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise
deferred rental receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, investments in securities,
available-for-sale investments, and cash and bank
balances, arises from default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of
equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the
value of underlying individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments
(note 14) as at 31 March 2018.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
10% change in the fair value of the equity investments
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact of on tax. For the purpose
of this analysis, with regard to the available-for-sale
investments, the impact is deemed to be on the
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve and
no account is given for factors such as impairment which
might impact profit or loss.

31. BHBEAREEERRER (@

(a)

HERABER (&)

BB P
RERMRIERAESENABER
ERE R EENEEESMmMEE
B A B o R20188E3831H > &
EEEmHENRERRKEDIEAS
AHEERENERNRAKRE
(FdEE14) ©

TRETRRSHREERAE
EXRABRNKRAREANEES
230w FIEEMEERET
g E R AERARBLER) B9
BRE - st DmE > BRAR
HEERBENTZERE R H
HEREEERFBEAR > BXA
STARIBER BEmARESH
% o

Carrying

amount of Change

investments in equity*

KREREE e

HK$ HK$
As at 31 March 2018 122018 3H31H
Unlisted equity investments: FFLEMRARE !

- available-for-sale —A{HHE 17,960,621 1,796,062
As at 31 March 2017 FL201743H31H
Unlisted equity investment: FEEFRREELE .

- available-for-sale —AHE 6,221,450 622,145

* Excluding accumulated losses
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to
meet its current obligations when they fall due. Prudent
liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash and the availability of funding through operating
cash flows and advance from the immediate holding
company.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31. MEEAKREEEEREE @)

(a)

MBERRER (5@

MENEE R
NBEEAMREREERERE
I EREHER - FIE
RBETRAREREAERREE
RERERBERERATHER
MR RRRERAIHBAES -

FEENBREEHMERBAR
BRHRBET TR > BRER
RHNRTFHE  wmEEERR
REPASEEZEK

FEERRSARRES ORI
BURNTREe®HB R
B

2018
Repayable on
demand/less
than 1year  1to2years Over 2 years Total
BEX
BE/
—EYTF —EmE MEMUE 1@t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Trade payables FE(TERTR 28,319,981 - - 28,319,981
Financial liabilities included FTARMERRIER
in other payables and accruals EERNEHERE 72,782,330 - - 72,782,330
Rental and other deposits EEEtea 36,464,905 26,509,343 22,225,747 85,199,995
Amount due to the immediate ENEE
holding company BRABFIA 254,293,578 - - 254,293,578
Obligations under a finance lease RIEHEAE 1,580,310 - - 1,580,310
Deferred rental payable FILRENTHE 46,900 46,900 175,875 269,675
393,488,006 26,556,243 22,401,622 442,445,869
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

AT LB

/}IL@JﬁﬁHF (HE)

BEAERAER @

EERWERRERGEMBRE
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2017
Repayable on
demand/less
than 1year  1to2vyears Over 2 years Total
BEX
g/
—ENUTF —EmF MEM L 4Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Trade payables FEfIERER 35,472,265 - - 35472265
Financial liabilities included STARMBEARIER
in other payables and accruals A ERMNEMEAE 55429833 - - 55429833
Rental and other deposits HERHEMES 30349980 21712083 27364312 79.426,375
Amount due to the immediate B
holding company R ARIFIE 254,293,578 - - 254293578
Obligations under a finance lease RIBHERE 2,107,080 1,580,310 = 3,687,390
377,652,736 23,292,393 27,364,312 428,309,441
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Currency risk

The Group's functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
investments in securities that are denominated in other
currencies, being primarily United States dollars ("USD")
and Renminbi ("RMB"). As the Hong Kong dollars is
pegged to the USD, the Group considers the risk of
movements in exchange rates between the Hong Kong
dollars and the USD to be insignificant.

In respect of balances denominated in RMB, the Group
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by adjusting the level of RMB denominated
investments.

As at 31 March 2018, investments in securities
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$31,043,555 (2017
HK$31,833,405). Management estimated that a 5%
appreciation/depreciation of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars would have decreased/increased the Group's
loss for the year and increased/decreased total equity
by HK$1,552,178 (2017: HK$1,591,670). The sensitivity
analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments which exposed the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of
shareholder’s equity. Management reviews the capital
structure periodically and manages its overall capital
structure if necessary. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the
Group was in a net cash position.
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A MIBIRRMEE
32. Statement of financial position of the Company 32. XREEMBIRRE 32. Statement of financial position of the Company 32. ZATWMFBFKRR (@)
Information about the statement of financial position of the RABF B TRN RS RN E R (canifinyz)
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: e 2018 2017
2018 2017 HK_$ \HK_$
BT BT
o EQUITY fém
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE Share capital a7 2 2
Property, plant and equipment M~ BEREE 2,909,737,035  2,976,675,890 _ & = .
Deferred rental receivables B S 12,389,679 15,738,361 Capital reserve B 5,366,157,807  5363,136,217
Investments in securities HHERE 223,214,837 430,053,583 Accumulated losses EHitiEig (2,123,100,341)  (2,060,174,138)
Investment in a subsidiary MBABKE 1 1
Prepayment and deposits BYMEREE 4,814,268 - Total equity 4T 3,243,057,468  3,302,962,081
Total non-current assets IERENEELLZE 3,150,155,820 3,422,467,835
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories Z5 539,809 595,761
Trade receivables FEURBRFR 8,424,496 9,199,554
Prepayments, deposits and other TANMIE ~ ek
receivables HAEUWIE 17,177,106 19,059,547
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EE NEVNG 899,937 2,348,448
Amounts due from subsidiaries N YNGR E] 19,131,953 6,796,422
Investments in securities HHERE 775,619,293 570,713,140
Cash and bank balances RERIRITEER 122,808,960 107,144,969
Total current assets MBS EARRE 944,601,554 715,857,841
Lee George LAM Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
CURRENT LIABILITIES iﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ ] BRE
Trade payables FE{TBRTR 28,319,981 35,472,265 Direct Direct
Other payables and accruals 0 B 28 82,950,597 60,388,352 rector e
Rental and other deposits HEREMIZS 85,199,995 79,426,375 EE BF
Amount due to the immediate holding FE{S B 123
company NEFIE 254,293,578 254,293,578
Obligations under a finance lease RMERERE 1,577,476 2,095,355
Total current liabilities mENe{E4E%E 452,341,627 431,675,925
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFRE 492,259,927 284,181,916
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEMLER
LIABILITIES mEaE 3,642,415,747 3,706,649,751
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREIAE
Development maintenance fund BREEES 399,088,604 402,110,194
Obligations under a finance lease EHEERE - 1577,476
Deferred rental payable EIEFES A 269,675 =
Total non-current liabilities IERENE{E4L%E 399,358,279 403,687,670
Net assets BEFE 3,243,057,468 3,302,962,081
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33. Approval of the consolidated financial statements 33. ZAEGRSHBTRR

The consolidated financial statements were approved and AR N2018FEIH28HEES
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 September Btz ETLFT RIS o
2018.
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